

# Water, Cooperation, and Peace American University School of International Service

**Summer 2013 Practicum** 

### Table of Contents

Table of Contents	ii
List of Figures and Boxes	V
Acronyms and Abbreviations	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
Executive Summary	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Context	2
Water Issues in Israel and the Palestinian West Bank	2
AIES/PWEG Project Overview	4
1.2 Research Framework	6
Study Objective	6
Theoretical Foundation: Environmental Peacebuilding	6
Methodology	7
Endnotes	9
Chapter 2: Wastewater Development and Peace	
2.1 Introduction	12
Chapter Overview	12
Wastewater Realities in the Palestinian West Bank	12
2.2 Wastewater Development and Peace	13
Theoretical Framework	14
Preferred vs. Feasible Wastewater Solutions	15
Conflict-Related Barriers to Wastewater Infrastructure	16
Trade-offs: Onsite Graywater Recycling	
Analysis	19
Conclusion	21
Endnotes	
Chapter 3: Promoting Equity	24
3.1 Introduction	25

3.	.2 Poverty Reduction and Peacebuilding	25
	Poverty in the Palestinian West Bank	25
	"Selling" Graywater Recycling	
	Conflict and Inequality: A Theoretical Grounding	
	Recommendations	
3.	.3 Benefit Sharing: Intended and Unintended Benefits	29
	Introduction	
	Theoretical Framework	
	Field Observations and Discussion	31
	Analysis	
	Conclusion	
3.	.4 Gender and Peacebuilding	35
	Gender and Peacebuilding Theory	
	Methodology	
	Findings and Discussion	
	Conclusions and Recommendations	40
	Endnotes	41
Cha	apter 4: Relationship Building	45
4.	.1 Introduction	46
4.	.2 Relationship Building and Peace	46
	Theoretical Framework	46
	Methodology	47
	Key Findings	49
	Conclusion	
	Endnotes	53
Cha	apter 5: Changing Perceptions	56
5.	.1 Introduction	57
5.	.2 Discursive Change	57
	Introduction	
	Methodology	
	Theoretical Grounding	60
	Literature Analysis and Field Observations	61
	Conclusion	64

5.3	Percept	ual Change and the 'Other'	65
Th	eoretical	Framework	66
Fie	eld Obser	vations and Discussion	
Co	nclusion	and Areas for Further Research	69
5.4	Percept	ual Change and The Role of the Natural Environment	70
Int	roduction		
Th	eoretical	Framework	71
Те	rritory-Ba	ased Identities	72
Fie	eld Obser	vations	74
Fii	ndings		75
Co	nclusion		
En	dnotes		77
Chapte	er 6: Cor	nclusion	83
6.1	Summa	ry of Findings	84
Appen	dices		86
Арре	endix A:	Research Methodology	87
Pre	e-departu	re Desk Study	
Fie	eld Resea	rch	
Ar	alysis, Pr	esentation, and Report Writing	
Арре	endix B:	Research Initiatives	89
Арре	endix C:	Research and Interview Questions	91
Те	am Resea	rch Objective	
Inc	lividual C	Contributions to Team Research Objective	
Арре	endix D:	Desk Study Reference List	

## List of Figures and Boxes

Figure 1.1	Aquifer Map	3
Box 1.1	Graywater System Technical Components	6
Figure 1.2	Research Framework	8
Figure 4.1	AIES/PWEG Initiaitive Relational Network Analysis	49
Figure 5.1	John Paul Lederach's Pyramid	67

### Acronyms and Abbreviations

AIES	Arava Institute for Environmental Studies
CA	Israeli Civil Administration
CIS	Center for Israel Studies
CTWM	Center for Transboundary Water Management
DC	District of Columbia
FOEME	Friends of the Earth Middle East
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GEP	Global Environmental Politics
IPCRI	Israel/Palestine Center for Research and Information
JWC	Joint Water Commission
MCM	Million Cubic Meters
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
PPI	Positive Peace Index
PWEG	Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Program
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WRAP	Water Resources Action Project

### Acknowledgements

The practicum team would like to recognize and thank the Center for Transboundary Water Management of the Arava Institute for Environmental Studies and the Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group for their expertise and support.

Appreciation is also expressed to all the partner staff, project beneficiaries, technical experts, mayors and municipal staff, government representatives, and the many other individuals involved in making this practicum a success.

#### Financial support has been provided by:

 American University School of International Service
American University School of International Service Global Environmental Politics (GEP) Program
American University Center for Israel Studies (CIS)
Water Resources Action Project (WRAP)
Lea Shabat, Artist, Montreal, Canada

#### Special thanks to the Practicum advisors:

Eric Abitbol, PhD, Professorial Lecturer at American University Ken Conca, PhD, Professor at American University

#### Authors:

Charlie Christian Joanna Fisher Moses Jackson Christina Kehoe Courtney Owen Valerie Puleo Erin Rosner Heather Speight

All views expressed in this report are those of its authors and do not reflect the views of the partner organizations or any financial supporters.

All photographs used with the permission of the authors – Moses Jackson, Christina Kehoe, and Courtney Owen. Cover art by Moses Jackson and Courtney Owen.

### **Executive Summary**

#### Study Background Information

This report presents original research carried out as part of a graduate practicum organized by the American University School of International Service. The practicum brought together eight graduate students from a range of academic backgrounds to investigate shared interests in water, cooperation and peace. Its primary objective is to assess the peacebuilding significance of a cooperative Israeli-Palestinian wastewater management initiative between the Arava Institute for Environmental Studies (AIES), an Israelibased environmental organization, and the Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group (PWEG), a Palestinian-run organization working in the water and solid waste sectors.

#### Chapter 1

Section 1.1 outlines the context within which AIES and PWEG are engaging in their work. The AIES/PWEG initiative operates in an asymmetrical conflict environment characterized by Israeli hydrohegemony. Israel, the downstream riparian in a shared aquifer system,



Roman-era water conveyance system in Battir (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

disproportionately controls scarce water resources. The Joint Water Committee (JWC) established during the 1995 Oslo Accords is criticized for reproducing rather than reducing Israeli hydro-hegemony, effectively hindering the development of Palestinian water infrastructure. By all accounts, wastewater infrastructure is sorely lacking in the Palestinian West Bank.

**Executive Summary** 

Transboundary flows require transboundary cooperation, as untreated or inadequately treated wastewater can have significant environmental and public health impacts on both sides of the Green Line. The AIES/PWEG initiative is designed to address this concern by providing a decentralized, collaborative model for sustainable wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank. The initiative brings together Israelis, represented by AIES, and Palestinians, represented by PWEG, to facilitate low-cost graywater recycling technology in Palestinian households that are not connected to centralized wastewater treatment facilities.

Section 1.2 details the study's theoretical foundation and methodology. In order to assess the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative, a multidisciplinary approach was adopted that incorporates a range of methodologies and theoretical perspectives developed by the practicum team's eight members. Environmental peacebuilding serves as the theoretical basis for the study. Environmental peacebuilding theory argues that management of ecological resources creates an opportunity for cooperation that is distinct from the economic and political spheres,<sup>1</sup> and that environmental cooperation has the potential to build communities based around shared resources, cutting across geographical boundaries and moving past a "mutually exclusive, politically defined identity."<sup>2</sup> The practicum team designed an overarching analytical framework that grounds the study in environmental peacebuilding theory while integrating team members' divergent research areas into a cohesive whole. Each research area constitutes a different subsection of this report, from which findings are collectively synthesized.



Contamination near Jerusalem (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

**Executive Summary** 

Research consisted of three weeks of preliminary desk study (including a week of intensive research training), ten days of field research in Israel and the Palestinian West Bank, and three weeks of post-field data analysis and report writing. Field data was gathered through formal and informal interviews with forty-nine individuals. Respondents included AIES and PWEG staff, project beneficiaries, technical experts and staff from other organizations in the region, and various Israeli and Palestinian government actors. Field research was conducted in eight sites in the Palestinian West Bank and four sites in Israel. Sites included AIES/PWEG project locations, wastewater treatment facilities, government offices, and environmental contamination sites.

#### Chapter 2

Section 2.1 outlines the wastewater situation in the Palestinian West Bank as a contextual backdrop for the remainder of the report. Wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank is widely regarded as inadequate: only 31% of Palestinians in the region were connected to sewerage networks in 2009<sup>3</sup> and only 10% of Palestinian wastewater is reportedly treated.<sup>4</sup>

Section 2.2 examines the AIES/PWEG initiative from the vantage point of the development and peace nexus, situating it for further analysis in subsequent chapters of the report. The AIES/PWEG partnership should be understood as a development initiative first and a peacebuilding initiative second. While centralized treatment facilities are the preferred wastewater solution in the Palestinian West Bank, onsite graywater recycling systems are more feasible. Conflict-related barriers to centralized treatment facilities include permitting, Israeli settlements, and Israeli-imposed bureaucratic hurdles. The hydro-political implications of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict affect the operational realities that AIES and PWEG must confront. The practice of development and the practice of peace can have divergent objectives, and complications can arise when international development aid targets peacebuilding activities. Development practitioners involved in peacebuilding must consider conflict actors' disparate priorities both in terms of development and in terms of peace, and project partners must remain cognizant of one another's potentially contradictory agendas.

#### Chapter 3

The remainder of the report analyzes the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative in terms of three criteria that represent potential pathways to peacebuilding: the initiative's ability to promote equity, foster sustained relationships, and change perceptions.

Section 3.1 emphasizes the importance of equity promotion in addressing conflictual asymmetry. Three potential avenues to equity promotion are



Sludge discharged from a Palestinian wastewater treatment plant (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

introduced: poverty reduction, benefit sharing, and gender.

Section 3.2 employs development theory to analyze the AIES/PWEG initiative's potential to promote equity by reducing poverty among Palestinians. Evidence shows that the initiative is currently impacting middle class families and is not making major efforts towards poverty reduction. Onsite graywater recycling does offer opportunities to reduce poverty and inequality, however, and AIES and PWEG should seize this opportunity.

Section 3.3 evaluates the benefit sharing potential of transboundary wastewater management by considering the benefits and consequences of the AIES/PWEG initiative. Research suggests that both intended and unintended benefits are creating spillover effects, the most notable of which is peacebuilding.

Section 3.4 describes the gender dynamics and impacts of the AIES/PWEG initiative. It was determined that women benefit directly from the project, but that neither AIES nor PWEG currently have a gender strategy. This represents a missed opportunity in terms of both community support and long-term financial sustainability.

#### Chapter 4

Section 4.1 acknowledges the existing body of literature on relationship building strategies used to promote peacebuilding in Israel and the Palestinian West Bank. Section 4.2 discusses the ways in which the AIES/PWEG initiative are creating and cultivating relational networks and proposes ways these efforts can be further leveraged. Overall, evidence suggests that AIES and PWEG are strengthening existing relationships but are not cultivating new relationships to extend their relational network outside of the epistemic community. A network map of the AIES/PWEG initiative (Figure 4.1) illustrates parity between project partners and demonstrates how each organization serves as a gateway for information exchange.

#### Chapter 5

Section 5.1 investigates ways in which the AIES/PWEG initiative can potentially alter conflict actors' perceptions a means of building peace. Three frames of perception are addressed: discursive change, changes in perceptions of "the other," and changes in perceptions of the natural environment.

Section 5.2 explores how AIES and PWEG perceive their organizational role as peacebuilders and the extent to which they can affect a shift in the existing hydropolitical discourse. While AIES and PWEG object to the identity of "peacebuilders," research suggests that their joint graywater recycling initiative is indeed a tool of discursive peacebuilding. AIES's involvement in the initiative challenges the perceived necessity of Israeli hydrohegemony, and PWEG's involvement challenges the perceptions that Palestinians are unwilling or unable to effectively manage their own water resources. Such discursive engagement is vital in weakening structural violence and thus promoting positive peace. Both organizations can be more effective in this arena by acknowledging their peacebuilding capacity and further embracing their ability for discursive resistance.

Section 5.3 seeks to determine whether the initiative promotes a positive shift in perceptions regarding the role of the "other." Evidence suggests that space is being created for changes in Israelis' and Palestinians' perceptions of one another to occur, but that it is currently limited to midlevel technical actors.



Aeration tanks at the Israeli wastewater treatment plant in Soreq (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

Section 5.4 investigates whether the AIES/PWEG initiative reinforces the political narrative that categorizes water resources as either Israeli or Palestinian, or if it fosters a regional water community. It was determined that a shared water community identity is still absent, as project participants' sense of place remains tied to territory-based identities. Despite this challenge, the AIES/PWEG initiative has been successful in raising awareness of the transboundary nature of water, thus representing an important effort in changing perceptions of the natural environment.

#### Chapter 6

The concluding chapter summarizes major findings and outlines opportunities to strengthen the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative. Overall, the initiative promises significant, tangible impacts in the development sphere by addressing urgent wastewater needs in the Palestinian West Bank. The initiative is also contributing to peacebuilding, though on a small scale and in limited ways.

While AIES and PWEG do not lay claim to peacebuilding and do not explicitly engage with the broader Israeli-Palestinian conflict, they are nevertheless establishing avenues for peace by promoting equity, sustained relationships, and changes in perception.

The AIES/PWEG initiative is not currently reducing poverty, though it does improve economic well-being in middleclass households where pilot projects have been installed. Onsite graywater recycling has the potential to reduce poverty and inequality, and AIES and PWEG should work to exploit this potential.

The initiative is successfully achieving its intended benefits, but its unintended benefits remain hidden or unapparent to project partners and beneficiaries. AIES and PWEG should recognize and seek to maximize unintended benefits in order to strengthen positive spillover effects.

With no gender strategy, AIES and PWEG are missing valuable opportunities to ensure project sustainability. A gender impact assessment should be conducted and a subsequent gender strategy should be developed and implemented.

The initiative is strengthening existing relational connections, but it is not establishing new ones. A lack of public awareness about the initiative makes it difficult to identify new project participants and partners, but coordinated outreach may help address this concern.

AIES and PWEG challenge the narrative that has traditionally justified Israeli hydro-hegemony by demonstrating that Palestinian actors can manage transboundary water resources effectively and sustainably. This has significant, positive implications for future peacebuilding.



Piping is added to separate graywater from black water at the household level (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

The AIES/PWEG partnership creates space for positive change in individuals' perceptions of the other to occur, but only among mid-level technical actors. The grassroots level is not being reached due to physical and political barriers that hinder community mobilization, and the policy level is not being reached due to politicians' low prioritization of transboundary environmental cooperation.

Sense of place remains tied to territory-based identities in project communities, but outreach efforts have the potential to change this by building a shared community identity around water resources.

All told, the environmental peacebuilding efforts carried out through the AIES/PWEG initiative represent a valuable contribution to both Palestinian wastewater development and the Israeli-Palestinian peace process. While much can be done to improve the peacebuilding significance of the initiative, it nevertheless promises to reduce transboundary environmental degradation while at the same time creating the potential for more peaceful relations between Israelis and Palestinians. AIES and PWEG are "building peace slowly, working to place stone upon stone – it cannot be rushed."<sup>5</sup>

#### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Alexander Carius, "Environmental Peacebuilding - Environmental Cooperation as an Instrument for Crisis Prevention and Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success and Constraints," *Adelphi Report* 3(2006): 12.

<sup>2</sup> Ibid.

<sup>3</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza: Assessment of Restriction on Palestinian Water Sector Development (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2009).

<sup>4</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.

<sup>5</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.



# Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Context

# Water Issues in Israel and the Palestinian West Bank

The growing scarcity of water in the arid and semi-arid areas in and around Israel and the Palestinian West Bank ensures that hydro-politics remain at the forefront of regional concerns. The region's transboundary waterscape both affects and reflects the ongoing Israeli-Palestinian conflict, with water playing a critical role in evolving power relations.<sup>1</sup> Conflictual asymmetry between the two parties was heightened with the 1967 occupation of the Palestinian West Bank. This asymmetry is particularly evident in the water sector, as strict water access regulations imposed by Israeli authorities early on have had lasting repercussions.<sup>2</sup> Today, Israel continues to disproportionately control shared surface and groundwater, and a growing body of academic literature characterizes the Israeli state as hydro-hegemonic.<sup>3</sup> Palestinian per capita access to water resources in the Palestinian West Bank is significantly lower than in Israel, and water costs amount to 8% of Palestinian household income.<sup>4</sup> Water is one of the "final status" issues in Israeli-Palestinian negotiations, meaning that any

future peace agreement must address the cooperative management of shared water resources.

Israel and the Palestinian West Bank are highly dependent on groundwater. Roughly 90% of the region's groundwater comes from the Mountain Aquifer (see Figure 1.1), which underlies both Israel and the Palestinian West Bank.<sup>5</sup> The Mountain Aquifer serves as a major source of freshwater for key Israeli population centers and is the only water source for most Palestinians in the Palestinian West Bank. Israel abstracts approximately 80% of the aquifer's estimated potential and the Palestinian West Bank abstracts the remainder. The Mountain Aquifer's recharge area lies primarily in the Palestinian West Bank, with two of its three sub-aquifers flowing into Israel.

The failure of groundwater to heed political borders means that a transboundary approach is necessary for effective and sustainable water resource management. The Oslo Interim Agreement of 1995 sought to facilitate cooperative water management by establishing the Israeli-Palestinian Joint Water Commission (JWC). However, like many initiatives implemented throughout the peace process, the JWC has not lived up to expectations. It is criticized on a number of grounds, most notably for "dressing up domination as cooperation," effectively reproducing Israeli hydrohegemony.<sup>6</sup>

Population growth and agricultural and industrial expansion are increasing water demand throughout the region, necessitating a corresponding increase in water supply. Israel is able to close its own water supply/demand gap through costly technical solutions like desalination, but the Palestinian West Bank lacks the financial and institutional capacity to



Jerusalem Fund, Washington D.C. Palestinian Academic Society for the Study of International Affairs (PASSIA)

do the same. Wastewater plays a critical role in this dynamic. Treated wastewater can be used for irrigation and other non-potable purposes, thereby reducing pressure on other freshwater supplies, including drinking water. Israel has invested heavily in wastewater treatment and reuse as a means of increasing its own water supply. Israel currently treats an estimated 90% of its wastewater, of which 80% is reused. By contrast, only 10% of wastewater is treated in the Palestinian West Bank, and very little is reused.<sup>7</sup> Untreated or inadequately treated wastewater discharged upstream on one side of the Green Line can have significant, long-

#### Chapter 1

Introduction

term environmental and public health impacts on the other side. Israel's position as the downstream riparian provides an incentive for Israelis to take an active interest in wastewater management within the Palestinian West Bank.

The Israeli-Palestinian conflict limits government-to-government wastewater cooperation. Though official cooperation is occurring in Ramallah, Hebron, and Jenin, efforts elsewhere are reportedly hindered by politicians' lack of understanding about the mutual importance of wastewater.<sup>8</sup> Limited or counterproductive government cooperation (as in the case of the JWC) means that transboundary wastewater efforts are often undertaken through civil society channels. The disparity in Israeli-Palestinian wastewater capacity has created space for internationally supported non-governmental organizations (NGOs) to address transboundary wastewater infrastructure development as a means of targeting broader environmental, health, economic, and conflict-related concerns. These organizations include Israeli-Palestinian NGOs and partnerships such as Friends of the Earth Middle East (FOEME), the Israel/Palestine Center for Research and Information (IPCRI), the Arava Institute for Environmental Studies (AIES), and the

Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group (PWEG). The specific goals and motivations of the actors involved in these initiatives vary. Some seek - either implicitly or explicitly - to address the Israeli-Palestinian conflict through cooperative wastewater development. There are practical and political reasons why these actors may not characterize their own work as "peacebuilding," as will be discussed, but for the purposes of this report their efforts are herein referred to as peacebuilding initiatives. One such initiative is a joint undertaking by AIES and PWEG, the Israeli-Palestinian partnership that serves as the subject of this report.

#### **AIES/PWEG Project Overview**

AIES is an Israeli-based institute that focuses on environmental education and research programs in the Middle East.<sup>9</sup> CTWM, one of six research centers at AIES, provides an institutional basis for developing projects that ensure equitable access to groundwater and surface water in the Middle East.<sup>10</sup> PWEG is a Palestinianrun nonprofit NGO dedicated to enhancing the water and solid waste sectors through professional development and capacity building.<sup>11</sup> CTWM has partnered with PWEG to provide a decentralized,

Introduction

collaborative model for sustainable wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank.<sup>12</sup> The initiative, herein referred to as the AIES/PWEG initiative, is designed to address environmental, technical, and social components of wastewater infrastructure.<sup>13</sup>

The initiative's key feature is a lowcost domestic graywater treatment and reuse system that protects shared groundwater by diverting wastewater from household cesspits and making it available for agricultural use. System installation and monitoring is a cooperative process meant to encourage transboundary communication between Israelis and Palestinians. The project is currently in its pilot phase, with two systems installed in the Palestinian village of Al 'Oja, northwest of Jericho. A second system is planned for the village of Battir, just west of Bethlehem. Project partners hope to scale up the initiative.

Al 'Oja has approximately 4,500 residents, the majority of whom are farmers. The AIES/PWEG initiative is designed to meet the priority needs of this population by focusing on protecting groundwater, increasing water availability, encouraging economic growth through increased agricultural productivity, and increasing food security.<sup>14</sup> Project beneficiaries in Al 'Oja expressed realization of these benefits and were most pleased with the economic benefits associated with increased agricultural water. Graywater recycling can increase household income in two ways. First, surplus agricultural water can increase yields and allow for agricultural diversification; a project beneficiary was able to expand into small-scale date production, a crop with high market demand that is relatively water intensive. Second, reducing the volume of wastewater entering household cesspits reduces costs associated with cesspit pumping, freeing up financial resources for other uses.<sup>15</sup>

The AIES/PWEG graywater system does have known limitations, however. As a decentralized system it only produces localized benefits, representing a tactical rather than strategic approach to wastewater management. A reported low willingness to pay for onsite graywater systems inhibits the initiative's long-term financial viability. System operation and maintenance presents challenges, including mechanical failures and household energy needs. Social and technical factors make the system inappropriate for many communities; some Palestinian communities will not partner with Israeli organizations like AIES, and urban communities with higher population

densities typically require centralized treatment plants.<sup>16</sup> The technical components of the AIES/PWEG graywater system are described in Box 1.1.

#### **1.2 Research Framework**

#### Study Objective

The primary objective of this practicum is to assess the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative. To that end, we adopt an interdisciplinary approach that incorporates a range of methodologies and theoretical perspectives. The practicum's eight team members examine eight distinct but complementary research areas, each of which addresses the primary research objective from a different angle.

#### Theoretical Foundation: Environmental Peacebuilding

This study investigates the peacebuilding significance of an environmental initiative, making environmental peacebuilding a logical foundation for our collective research framework. While a range of theoretical

#### Box 1.1: Graywater System Technical Components

The graywater recycling system's technical components are designed to be low-cost and easy to install and maintain. Household plumbing fixtures are modified to separate blackwater (wastewater from toilets) and graywater (wastewater from showers, sinks, and washing machines). Graywater is diverted into the treatment system while blackwater continues to flow to the household cesspit. Graywater first enters an underground septic tank, where grease and solids naturally separate. It then flows through two consecutive, graduated gravel filtration chambers. Water exits this first filtration stage and enters a balancing tank equipped with a submerged pump. Filtered water is pumped back above ground to a multi-tiered aerobic filter. Treated water passes through this second filtration phase and is deposited into a storage tank, where



is it now available for irrigation<sup>1</sup>. The treatment system is complimented by two additional infrastructure components: existing cesspits are lined in order to prevent blackwater from percolating into the aquifer, and greenhouses are provided as means of optimizing graywater reuse<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>1</sup> AIES and PWEG, "Decentralized Wastewater Treatment and Reuse: A Transboundary Approach to Environmental, Social and Technical Issues of Wastewater Infrastructure Development. A Pilot Project in Al 'Oja Village, Palestine," (2012)

<sup>2</sup> Ibid.

Introduction

perspectives inform each of the study's individual research areas, environmental peacebuilding serves as the study's theoretical anchor.

Environmental peacebuilding theory argues that the sustainable management of ecological resources creates an opportunity for cooperation that is distinct from the economic and political spheres.<sup>17</sup> Environmental cooperation has the potential to build communities that are based around shared resources, cutting across geographical boundaries and moving past a "mutually exclusive, politically defined identity."18 Transboundary cooperation can transform the larger understanding of communities and geographical spaces.<sup>19</sup> Natural resource management at the community level presents an opportunity to engage local stakeholders and create space for dialogue, eventually leading to the development of a constituency for peace.<sup>20</sup> The AIES/PWEG initiative thus embodies the goals of environmental peacebuilding both in terms of its specific development objectives and the Israeli-Palestinian partnership it represents. The eight research areas presented in this report draw on a diverse body of theories and approaches to build on this theoretical basis, using

environmental peacebuilding theory as a departure point from which to assess the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative.

#### Methodology

Our analytical framework (Figure 1.2) consists of two dimensions: the AIES/PWEG initiative's environmental significance as a development project and its peacebuilding significance within the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. Environmental significance is examined through an analysis of the initiative's role and impacts against a backdrop of conflict-related wastewater infrastructural challenges and evolving development paradigms. This provides a contextual basis to further investigate the initiative's peacebuilding significance.

Peacebuilding significance is examined through an analysis of three peacebuilding criteria: the ability of the AIES/PWEG initiative to promote equity, foster sustained relationships, and change perceptions. Equity is studied through the lenses of poverty reduction, benefit sharing, and gender. Relationship building is analyzed by using a network analysis to study new relationships, existing relationships, and relational platforms. Perceptions are investigated in terms of



discourse, perceptions of "the other," and perceptions of the natural environment. Each of these individual analyses constitutes a different subsection of this report, from which findings are collectively synthesized.

Research was carried out in three phases: three weeks of preliminary desk study including one week of intensive research training, ten days of field research in Israel and the Palestinian West Bank, and three weeks of post-field data analysis and report writing. The pre-departure desk study took place in Washington, DC and consisted of research design and planning activities, training workshops, independent research and literature reviews, and lectures. Topics included wastewater infrastructure, the Israeli-Palestinian water conflict, environmental peacebuilding theory, and research in conflict zones. Field research consisted of a ten-day rapid appraisal. Eight sites were visited in the Palestinian West Bank and four in Israel. Field data was collected via interviews, focus groups, and informal meetings with forty-nine research participants. Participants included AIES and PWEG staff, project beneficiaries, staff from other organizations working in the Palestinian West Bank, Palestinian and Israeli government representatives, community members, and technical experts. Site visits included AIES and PWEG's onsite graywater system pilot sites, large- and small-scale wastewater treatment plants, various government offices, and key transboundary environmental contamination sites. Fieldwork was followed by three weeks of intensive post-field data analysis and report writing in Washington, DC. Additional methodological information can be found in the Appendix.

#### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Mark Zeitoun et al., "Hydro-Hegemony in the Upper Jordan Waterscape: Control and Use of the Flows," *Water Alternatives* 6, no. 1(2013): 86-106.

<sup>2</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza: Assessment of Restriction on Palestinian Water Sector Development (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2009).

<sup>3</sup> Mark Zeitoun, *Power and Water in the Middle East: The Hidden Politics of the Palestinian-Israeli Water Conflict* (New York: I.B. Tauris, 2008), 145.

<sup>4</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza.

<sup>5</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza.

<sup>6</sup> Jan Selby, "Dressing up Domination as 'Cooperation': The Case of Israeli-Palestinian Water Relations," *Review of International Studies* 29, no. 1(2003): 121-138.

<sup>7</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.

<sup>8</sup> Interview with Informant 19, June 27, 2013.

<sup>9</sup> "About the Arava Institute," *The Arava Institute for Environmental Studies*, accessed November 3, 2013, http://arava.org/about-our-community/about-arava/.

<sup>10</sup> "Center for Trans-boundary Water Management," *The Arava Institute for Environmental Studies*, accessed November 3, 2013, http://arava.org/arava-researchcenters/center-for-transboundary-watermanagement/.

<sup>11</sup> "Mission," *Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group*, accessed July 20, 2013, http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/.

<sup>12</sup> Center for Transboundary Water Management at Arava Institute for Environmental Studies and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, Decentralized Wastewater Treatment and Reuse: A Transboundary Approach to Environmental, Social and Technical Issues of Wastewater Infrastructure Development – A Pilot Project in Al 'Oja Village, Palestine (2012).

<sup>13</sup> Ibid.

<sup>14</sup> Ibid.

<sup>15</sup> Interviews with Informants 6 and 8, June 25, 2013.

<sup>16</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>17</sup> Alexander Carius, "Environmental Peacebuilding - Environmental Cooperation as an Instrument for Crisis Prevention and Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success and Constraints," *Adelphi Report* 3(2006): 12.

<sup>18</sup> Ibid.

<sup>19</sup> Ibid.

<sup>20</sup> Michael Warner, *Working Paper 135 -Conflict Management in Community-Based Natural Resource Projects: Experiences from Fiji and Papua New Guinea* (London: Overseas Development Institute, 2000), 11.



# **Chapter 2** Wastewater Development and Peace

#### 2.1 Introduction

#### Chapter Overview

Environmental peacebuilding practitioners do not work in a vacuum. The political and social realities of the region in which they operate greatly impact the nature and scope of their work. Within the Palestinian West Bank these practitioners must navigate the hydro-political implications of Israeli-Palestinian conflict. This chapter examines how conflictual asymmetry between the two parties affects the development of water infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank in general, and how AIES/PWEG graywater recycling systems address this asymmetry in particular. This chapter also highlights the tension between the potentially divergent objectives of peace and development and the complications this raises for field practitioners. First, a summary of wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank provides context.

#### Wastewater Realities in the Palestinian West Bank

Wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank is widely regarded as inadequate. Though contradictory data exists and politically opposed actors dispute the credibility of various data sources,<sup>1</sup> few argue the general state of the wastewater situation. According to the most recent comprehensive study carried out by the World Bank, only 31% of Palestinians in the Palestinian West Bank were connected to sewerage networks in 2009 and only four major towns had wastewater treatment plants.<sup>2</sup> Existing sewerage networks are over 50 years old and are poorly managed, resulting in high losses from leakage and other inefficiencies.

Unconnected households discharge wastewater into cesspits that require periodic pumping. Cesspit pumping can cost  $55 \text{ to } 84 \text{ (or } 200 \text{ to } 300 \text{ shekels})^3 \text{ per}$ household per visit, representing a significant economic burden given the Palestinian GDP per capita of \$2,900.<sup>4</sup> The majority of cesspits are unlined, allowing wastewater seepage to contaminate ground and surface water, introducing water-borne illnesses into drinking water supplies and damaging ecosystems in both Israel and the Palestinian West Bank. Because there are few cesspit pumping companies and few wastewater treatment facilities, raw sewage is often collected at the household level only to be discharged directly into the environment elsewhere. The World Bank

estimates that 25 MCM of raw sewage is discharged from 350 locations annually,<sup>5</sup> and Israeli sources estimate annual discharge rates at up to 64 MCM.

Graywater, or non-toilet wastewater, plays an increasingly important role in the water sector in the Palestinian West Bank. Treated (or "recycled") graywater can supplement non-potable water supplies, reducing pressure on household cesspits and treatment facilities and providing environmental, economic, and health benefits. A number onsite graywater recycling programs have been initiated throughout the Palestinian West Bank, but there is reportedly little knowledge about graywater recycling in the region.<sup>6</sup> Onsite graywater systems are often installed in households, businesses, schools, mosques, or community centers. Such systems typically involve separating graywater from blackwater (toilet wastewater) near the source, treating the graywater using lowcost, gravity-fed filtration systems, and utilizing the output for irrigation, toilet flushing, construction, and other non-potable applications.

Previous studies show that graywater recycling is generally socially acceptable among Palestinian West Bank populations but that few people are willing to share in project costs.<sup>7</sup> While many Palestinian West Bank residents accept the idea of graywater recycling, not many are willing to accept graywater recycling systems in their own households.<sup>8</sup> Moreover, many previously implemented graywater systems have fallen into disuse or failed altogether, making some communities hesitant to embrace new projects.<sup>9</sup>

# 2.2 Wastewater Development and Peace

The research presented in this section investigates the AIES/PWEG initiative from a development perspective that emphasizes the relationship between development and peace. Its purpose is to examine the development significance of the initiative in order to better understand its peacebuilding significance. Drawing on key informant interviews and secondary literature, this section contextualizes the AIES/PWEG initiative within the theoretical framework of the development and peace nexus: discusses wastewater "solutions" in terms of preferred interventions and feasible interventions; identifies key barriers that hinder the development of centralized wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank; offers two divergent perspectives on cooperative graywater



Settling tanks at the Israeli wastewater treatment facility in Soreq (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

initiatives; and analyzes the AIES/PWEG initiative in terms of its role in development and in peace.

#### Theoretical Framework

The "peacebuilding significance" of the AIES/PWEG initiative may be interpreted in different ways. Both AIES and PWEG project leaders are clear that the initiative's primary objective is environmental protection, not peacebuilding: it is a development initiative above all else. However, AIES' secondary objective is to foster Israeli-Palestinian cooperation,<sup>10</sup> and partnerships between conflict actors inherently offer peacebuilding potential. The project can thus be equally understood as a peacebuilding initiative. This duality positions this and similar initiatives within the development and peace nexus, an emergent theoretical perspective concerned with the evolving relationship between the distinct but increasingly overlapping spheres of development and peace.

Peace was not perceived as part of the development mandate until the early 1990s, but since that time "the nexus between development and peace has become a central focus of development thinking and practice."<sup>11</sup> Given that peace is perhaps the newest addition to a growing list of development concerns, its place among the

others has yet to be fully understood. Development work in conflict environments brings a set of responsibilities and sensitivities distinct from those found in non-conflict environments, and development practitioners and donors must carefully navigate the politically charged, often violent environments in which they operate. Development practitioners are not politically neutral actors, despite the claims of some, and development aid can affect conflict dynamics in unforeseen ways that run counter to practitioners' goals.<sup>12</sup> Interpreting the AIES/PWEG initiative in this context allows for critical, constructive analysis that sheds light on its role in terms of both development and peace.

#### Preferred vs. Feasible Wastewater Solutions

More and better wastewater infrastructure is clearly needed in the Palestinian West Bank, but the type and scale of infrastructure needed depend on site-specific factors. Given Palestinian funding constraints and the limitations of official Israeli-Palestinian cooperation discussed above, the identification and implementation of technically appropriate wastewater solutions in the Palestinian West Bank falls largely to NGOs like FOEME,

IPCRI, AIES, and PWEG. Smaller NGOs dependent on external financial support are more likely to focus on low-cost, small-scale interventions. Yet all engineers and NGO technical staff interviewed during the course of our research indicated that what is needed most in the Palestinian West Bank are centralized wastewater treatment plants that allow for large-scale wastewater reuse. Centralized plants are generally preferred because they provide a major source of agricultural water, are strategically designed and located, are more efficient and costeffective due to their scale, offer greater regulatory control of inputs and outputs, benefit entire communities instead of individual sites, and significantly reduce costs paid to the Israeli government for the treatment of Palestinian wastewater flowing into Israel.<sup>13</sup> According to several Palestinian respondents, centralized plants also contribute directly to Palestinian autonomy - a goal shared by manyPalestinians. As one respondent put it, "Israel has their hands on the source of the water, and we want our own source."<sup>14</sup>

However, centralized plants require funding and government-to-government coordination that are difficult to achieve in practice. Decentralized, "off the grid" graywater solutions, by contrast, allow civil society development practitioners to circumvent intractable high-level politics and major funding constraints. Though centralized treatment and reuse is generally preferred, onsite graywater recycling is more feasible.

#### Conflict-Related Barriers to Wastewater Infrastructure

The politics of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict manifest themselves in ways that hinder the development of centralized wastewater infrastructure in the Palestinian West Bank. Field research indicates that permitting, Israeli settlements, and securityrelated bureaucracy are three such ways.

Permitting was the most oft-cited barrier to wastewater infrastructure development among both Israeli and Palestinian respondents. The 1993 Oslo Accords split the Palestinian West Bank into non-contiguous administrative Areas A, B, and C, with area C falling under full Israeli control. Area C encompasses approximately 60% of the land in the Palestinian West Bank, and its geographic and demographic characteristics generally make it the most appropriate location for centralized wastewater treatment plants.<sup>15</sup> However, all water infrastructure in Area C requires permitting by the JWC and the Israeli Civil

Administration (CA), and unpermitted infrastructure risks destruction by the Israeli military. All Palestinian respondents viewed the JWC as Israeli-controlled in practice, and nearly all technical respondents, including Israeli and Palestinian engineers, indicated that wastewater infrastructure permitting is a major problem in the Palestinian West Bank. Many expressed frustration at the apparent unwillingness of the JWC to grant permits for legitimate, much-needed wastewater projects. Several respondents relayed anecdotes and figures that spoke to the JWC's ostensibly systematic refusal to grant permits.<sup>16</sup> These claims are supported by the academic literature<sup>17</sup> and the fact that twelve centralized wastewater treatment plants were awaiting approval by the JWC in 2009 – some since 1999.<sup>18</sup> A recurring concern among Palestinian respondents was that the JWC advances the Israeli government's purported goal of denying water access in the Palestinian West Bank as a means of limiting Palestinian populations and strengthening Israeli control. Valid technical or regulatory considerations may play a role in JWC permitting decisions. However, Israeli government representatives declined to comment on permit-related issues when

asked, leaving no clear explanation as to why so few permits have been granted.<sup>19</sup>

Numerous Palestinian respondents indicated that Israeli-imposed conditionality regarding Israeli settlements prevents the development of centralized wastewater treatment facilities in the Palestinian West Bank. The Israeli government has reportedly supported such facilities on the condition that they connect to Israeli settlements located near proposed project sites.<sup>20</sup> Palestinians regard Israeli settlements as both illegal and "highly problematic."<sup>21</sup> "For Palestinians, dealing with settlers is taboo." and Palestinians who break this taboo are perceived as collaborators and risk negative repercussions from within their communities.<sup>22</sup> While conventional wisdom dictates that centralized wastewater treatment plants should be designed to maximize benefits by servicing as many households as possible, in this case political considerations trump technical considerations. All Palestinian respondents refused to entertain the notion of Israeli connections to Palestinian treatment facilities on the grounds that such concessions contribute to the legitimization of existing settlements and encourage Israel's expansionist agenda. The Palestinian Authority generally refuses to negotiate on

any settler-related issues, particularly in the water sector (though past exceptions have been made). Israeli conditionality regarding settlements thus limits the scope of possible wastewater interventions in the Palestinian West Bank.

Numerous technical experts expressed that the Israeli government may block or delay centralized wastewater infrastructure projects in the Palestinian West Bank even when no permitting objections or Israeli conditionalities are raised. The Taybeh-Ramoun treatment plant, a European Union-funded project intended to serve two Palestinian communities, exemplifies how bureaucratic hurdles imposed by the CA can further hinder



Community water access point in Battir (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

development efforts. Both the JWC and Israeli Ministry of Finance have granted permission for the project, and construction was nearly complete at the time of research. However, the project incorporates German rotating biological contactor technology that must be imported, meaning it falls subject to Israeli border security under the purview of the CA. A respondent involved in the project indicated that Israeli authorities had been holding the shipment for over two months at the time of research, presumably due to security concerns.<sup>23</sup> Such delays are costly and can deter future foreign investment in wastewater infrastructure or sideline projects already underway.

#### Trade-offs: Onsite Graywater Recycling

Small-scale, decentralized wastewater interventions like the AIES/PWEG initiative naturally bring both advantages and disadvantages. The political challenges associated with centralized wastewater treatment facilities demonstrate the value of such "off-the-grid" projects. From a development perspective, one of the clearest advantages of the AIES/PWEG initiative is that it is politically and financially feasible; it allows development practitioners from both sides of the conflict

to address pressing development issues that may otherwise go unaddressed. AIES and PWEG project partners and participants viewed political avoidance positively, repeatedly expressing that "politics are only a problem between politicians, not normal people."<sup>24</sup> In this sense onsite gravwater recycling was regarded as empowering in that it shifts wastewater development from the political realm to the practical realm. According to a representative from another NGO involved in graywater recycling projects, "We just wanted to do something here, even if it has a very small impact."<sup>25</sup> While the impact of a few, scattered onsite graywater systems may be limited, project designers hope that scaling up such initiatives will significantly reduce environmental degradation throughout the region.

One of the AIES/PWEG initiatives' greatest disadvantages, on the other hand, is that it does not necessarily address Palestinian development priorities. Onsite graywater recycling systems are only appropriate under specific circumstances, and immediate environmental and health benefits are localized and difficult to discern. Economic, food security, and other benefits are limited mainly to individual households, and the potential for scaling up

is constrained by low willingness to pay. Moreover, recipient households must already possess an adequate water supply, sufficient space to accommodate treatment infrastructure, sufficient land and agricultural capacity to make use of recycled graywater, and sufficient income to contribute to project costs, including initial investment and long-term operation and maintenance. AIES/PWEG project sites are currently determined based on project partners' existing relationships rather than on recipient needs,<sup>26</sup> making projects subject to elite capture and possibly corruption. Given the scope and urgency of needs throughout the Palestinian West Bank, such interventions target a very narrow development area. A Palestinian municipal official in Battir charged that onsite graywater recycling is simply "not a solution."27

The AIES/PWEG initiative's development potential, while significant, has notable limitations. The initiative's overall value may be substantially enhanced by its peacebuilding potential, however, as will be explored in subsequent chapters of this report.

#### Analysis

Theoretically situating the AIES/PWEG initiative within the development and peace nexus requires an examination of its advantages and disadvantages in terms of both development and peace. Advantages in the development sphere can be disadvantages in the peacebuilding sphere and vice versa. From a development perspective, a clear advantage of onsite graywater recycling initiatives is that they skirt intractable political arenas. But this is not necessarily an advantage from a peace perspective. While a development perspective sees politics as a barrier to development, a peace perspective recognizes that development can interfere with political processes necessary for future peace. A peace perspective also recognizes that unofficial Israeli-Palestinian cooperation in the Palestinian water sector threatens to undermine the Palestinian Authority's political position and further erode Palestinian sovereignty, possibly reproducing Israeli hydro-hegemony. A Palestinian respondent captured this notion by expressing that onsite graywater recycling systems are "trying to make life better under occupation" rather than addressing the occupation – the real priority



One of few large-scale wastewater treatment plants in the Palestinian West Bank (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

directly.<sup>28</sup> Conversely, multiple Israeli respondents insinuated (though did not explicitly state) that Palestinians intentionally exaggerate the severity of the wastewater situation in the Palestinian West Bank for political gain. Such claims not only call attention to underlying power asymmetries but also demonstrate the allencompassing nature of Israeli-Palestinian politics: development practitioners seeking to avoid politics are in fact thoroughly enmeshed in politics.

Divergent conceptions of peace further complicate the issue. Peace for an Israeli may mean a lack of direct violence, while peace for a Palestinian may mean freedom from Israeli control. Peace for international donors may mean something else entirely. The majority of Palestinian respondents, including project partners and project beneficiaries, were very hesitant to discuss peace or peacebuilding in any context, even when asked directly. Many Israelis respondents spoke abstractly about peace but avoided linking it directly to the AIES/PWEG initiative, particularly when Palestinians were present. Similarly, AIES claims peacebuilding as a secondary goal, while PWEG lays no claim to peacebuilding.

Peacebuilding activities may be more attractive to international donors than strict

development activities, and it was evident that AIES wishes to leverage peacebuilding as a mechanism to access international development funding. This does not directly effect the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative, but given that project priorities are at least indirectly influenced by donor priorities, it highlights the discursive power of "peacebuilding" in shaping regional development trajectories and, by extension, conflict dynamics. Development aid can have negative implications that fall outside the development sphere – particularly in conflict environments and particularly when development and peacebuilding activities

development and peacebuilding activities are combined. Development aid can affect conflict

dynamics in various ways, two of which are especially pertinent to the AIES/PWEG initiative. First, "The distributional impacts of aid affect inter-group relationships, either feeding tensions or reinforcing connections."<sup>29</sup> Aid directed toward Israeli-Palestinian transboundary wastewater efforts like the AIES/PWEG initiative reinforces connections between project partners, but it also simultaneously feeds intergroup tensions by "making life easier under occupation" and undermining the Palestinian (and perhaps Israeli) political position. Second, "aid legitimises people and their actions or agendas, supporting the pursuit of either war or peace."<sup>30</sup> In this case aid legitimizes the AIES/PWEG agenda in favor of peace, but because Israeli project partners see peace differently than Palestinian partners, it effectively supports two distinct, possibly contradictory conceptions of peace.

#### Conclusion

The AIES/PWEG initiative plays an important role in protecting the environment through strengthening the Palestinian wastewater sector. As a development initiative it promises significant, tangible impacts, even if its development potential is somewhat limited. The cooperative dimension of the AIES/PWEG initiative may add value to project outcomes, but it also brings greater responsibility and accountability for project leaders who envision themselves as development practitioners rather than peace practitioners. AIES and PWEG have received relatively little training in peacebuilding,<sup>31</sup> yet their commitment to transboundary cooperation requires them to carefully manage the discourse and practice of peace in a volatile conflict environment fraught with political challenges. It is therefore vital that they critically examine the real and potential
impacts of their work outside of the comparatively narrow development sphere in which they may perceive themselves.

# Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>2</sup> World Bank, *West Bank and Gaza: Assessment of Restriction on Palestinian Water Sector Development* (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2009).

<sup>3</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>4</sup> "The World Factbook," *Central Intelligence Agency*, accessed July 23, 2013, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the -world-factbook/.

<sup>5</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza.

<sup>6</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.

<sup>7</sup> Hafez Q. Shaheen, "Wastewater Reuse as Means to Optimize the Use of Water Resources in the West Bank," *Water International* 28, no. 2(2003): 201-208.

<sup>8</sup> Rashed Al-Sa'ed & Sana' Mubarak, "Sustainability Assessment of Onsite Sanitation Facilities in Ramallah-Albireh District with Emphasis on Technical, Socio-Cultural and Financial Aspects," *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal* 17, no. 2(2006): 140-156.

<sup>9</sup> Interview with Informant 19, June 27, 2013.

<sup>10</sup> Interview with Informant 2, June 25, 2013.

<sup>11</sup> Peter Uvin, "The Development / Peacebuilding Nexus: A Typology and History of Changing Paradigms," *Journal of Peacebuilding and Development* 1(2002): 5-24.

<sup>12</sup> Mary Anderson, *Do No Harm: How Aid Can Support Peace – or War* (Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1999), 39.

<sup>13</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 3, June 25, 2013; Interview with Informant 15, June 27, 2013.

<sup>14</sup> Interview with Informant 15, June 27, 2013.

<sup>15</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>16</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26,
2013; Interview with Informant 15, June 27,
2013.

<sup>17</sup> See for example Jan Selby, "Joint Mismanagement: Reappraising the Oslo Water Regime," *Water Resources in the Middle East* 2(2007): 203-212.; Mark Zeitoun, Power and Water in the Middle East: The Hidden Politics of the Palestinian-Israeli Water Conflict (New York: I.B. Tauris, 2008), 149.

<sup>18</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza.

<sup>19</sup> Interview with Informant 33, June 30, 2013.

<sup>20</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>21</sup> Interview with Informant 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>22</sup> Interview with Informant 15, June 27, 2013.

<sup>23</sup> Ibid.

<sup>24</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>25</sup> Interview with Informant 33, June 30, 2013.

<sup>26</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.

<sup>27</sup> Interview with Informant 10, June 26, 2013.

<sup>28</sup> Interview with Informant 11, June 26, 2013.

<sup>29</sup> Anderson, *Do No Harm*, 39.

<sup>30</sup> Ibid.

<sup>31</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.



# **Chapter 3**Promoting Equity

# 3.1 Introduction

The promotion and generation of equity between asymmetrically powerful groups is an important factor in peacebuilding. The Israeli-Palestinian conflict is characterized by an asymmetric power relationship in which Israel controls much of the Palestinian West Bank's finances, natural resources, and personal freedoms. The AIES/PWEG initiative presents opportunities to promote equity between Israelis and Palestinians, but these opportunities are not being exploited to their full potential. This chapter discusses three different avenues through which the promotion of equity can be addressed and further incorporated into AIES/PWEG projects: poverty reduction, benefit sharing, and gender.

# **3.2** Poverty Reduction and Peacebuilding

# Poverty in the Palestinian West Bank

The economic differences between Israel and the Palestinian West Bank are obvious and stark. When crossing the Green Line, the shift is almost immediate. As one

East Jerusalem resident pointed out, "There are no more side walks, no more trash collection. It is obviously poor." Data supports this observation. In 2008 the GDP per capita in the West Bank was \$2,900, compared to \$28,300 in Israel.<sup>1</sup> The economic imbalance is impossible to ignore, yet the occupation makes reducing poverty in the Palestinian West Bank an especially complicated and difficult task. According to a 2009 UN report, economic development in the Palestinian West Bank will not be possible until a comprehensive strategy for a "sovereign Palestinian State free of Israeli settlements and occupation" is established.<sup>2</sup> The establishment of a sovereign state will be a long and arduous process. Meanwhile, Palestinians remain impoverished and the environment continues to be degraded. Therefore it is necessary to address poverty reduction now, at the local level and on a small scale. The AIES/PWEG initiative has the potential to do just that.

Many respondents in the Palestinian West Bank were most interested in onsite graywater recycling projects because of their ability to lower water costs. A project leader indicated that lower water costs and the economic benefits of increased agricultural water were what drew participations to the projects.<sup>3</sup> According to a Palestinian

engineer, the main purpose of graywater recycling is to save families money.<sup>4</sup> Water costs are already very high in the Palestinian West Bank, and graywater recycling can help lower water costs by 30% after overhead.<sup>5</sup> Water is five to six times more expensive in rural areas without piped water, making it a major expense for families already living in poverty.<sup>6</sup>

# "Selling" Graywater Recycling

AIES and PWEG should accentuate the money-saving potential of onsite graywater recycling systems in order to make them more appealing to prospective participants. Environmental protection is a low priority for many Palestinians in the Palestinian West Bank. Several respondents expressed that it seemed unrealistic to worry about the environment when basic human needs are not being met. Emphasizing graywater recycling as a mechanism to save money and achieve water autonomy may increase participants' willingness to pay for onsite systems. Participants are likely to be more willing to share in initial project costs if the potential for long-term savings is made clear. Participant buy-in is also likely to make graywater recycling systems more economically sustainable, as participants will feel a stronger sense of project

ownership. Buy-in can include a financial contribution, such as participants covering 5% of the project costs, as is the case in the large-scale wastewater treatment plant intended to serve Taybeh and Ramoun. Because local government mismanagement can make the collection of these contributions difficult, local bureaucratic failures should be addressed in order to make participant buy-in as effective as possible. Families that currently have onsite graywater recycling systems can encourage other families to invest in such systems. As word spreads that the systems save money, more people will likely become interested in participating.

# Conflict and Inequality: A Theoretical Grounding

Onsite graywater recycling has the potential to reduce poverty in Palestinian West Bank communities on a small scale. Poverty reduction, and thus inequality reduction, can be vital in mediating conflict between two economically unequal parties, such as the case with Israel and the Palestinian West Bank. This assertion is grounded in two theories.

Christopher Cramer posits that high inequality, when compounded by a lack of personal freedom and governmental failure,



Onsite graywater treatment infrastructure in Al 'Oja (photo credit: Courtney Owen)

can lead to conflict.<sup>7</sup> Poverty reduction reduces inequality and may thus contribute to conflict reduction. The link between conflict and economic inequality is not always direct and causal however; inequality is only one factor in a complex and deeply embedded conflict.

Sustainable development theory considers economic security to be a pillar of peaceful communities. The influential 1987 report commonly known as the *Brundtland Report* argues that sustainable economic

growth, environmental protection, and social equality are all part of a sustainable and developed community.<sup>8</sup> Though this theory is somewhat controversial, the interactions among these three areas are critical in the Palestinian West Bank. Social and economic inequality translate to infrastructural inequality; the infrastructure available to Israelis is not available to Palestinians. In particular, there is much more environmental infrastructure in Israel than in the Palestinian West Bank.<sup>9</sup> As a result, water resources and their management are both more expensive and more environmentally harmful in the Palestinian West Bank. Palestinians must pay high prices for water that is not consistently available, pushing them deeper into poverty. Untreated or inadequately treated wastewater contaminates existing water supplies, in turn reducing water availability and raising water costs even further. Poverty reduction and improved environmental infrastructure can break this cycle and lead to long-term improvements in the lives of Palestinians in the Palestinian West Bank. Onsite graywater recycling systems have the potential to achieve this goal. Following the theories of Cramer (2005) and the Brundtland Report, such systems can reduce poverty in the Palestinian West Bank,

thereby increasing equity and, ultimately, the possibility for peacebuilding.

### Recommendations

The AIES/PWEG initiative is not designed to reduce poverty, and the pilot projects currently benefit only middle-class families. Significant, long-term poverty reduction can only occur if the poorest families in the Palestinian West Bank share in economic benefits of improved water infrastructure. AIES and PWEG can do two things to address this issue: they can work to ensure that onsite graywater recycling systems are installed in households with the greatest needs, or they can direct their energies toward the development of centralized wastewater treatment facilities that benefit entire communities, as PWEG is doing through its involvement in the Taybeh-Ramoun treatment plant.

Though the AIES/PWEG initiative is not currently benefitting Palestinians with the greatest needs, it is fostering important conversations about onsite graywater recycling and demonstrating its economic benefits to poorer families in project communities. Certain changes to the AIES/PWEG initiative can encourage participation by poorer families. Poorer families must be convinced that such systems can indeed save them money, and AIES and PWEG should therefore emphasize economic benefits over environmental benefits when seeking participant households. Another possible way to reach poorer families is to install shared onsite graywater recycling facilities that serve multiple households. Shared facilities could be installed where residences are located close together, thereby reducing overhead costs and increasing economic efficiency. Encouraging neighbors to share graywater and graywater infrastructure may raise social or cultural concerns under certain circumstances, but such concerns could be mitigated through careful planning and clear communication.

Large-scale wastewater treatment plants are the most economically efficient and effective way to serve Palestinian communities, as discussed above. AIES and PWEG can make significant contributions to poverty reduction in the Palestinian West Bank by leveraging their expertise and relational networks to help overcome the aforementioned barriers to the development of large-scale treatment plants. AIES and PWEG's efforts to facilitate onsite graywater recycling are vitally important on a number of levels, but concurrent, complementary efforts to facilitate

centralized wastewater treatment facilities would do much to promote equity and build peace in the region.

# **3.3 Benefit Sharing: Intended and Unintended Benefits**

### Introduction

The guiding question of the research presented in this section is "What is the peacebuilding significance of the intended and unintended benefits and unintended consequences of AIES/PWEG cooperation in transboundary wastewater management?" Benefit sharing, defined as "any action designed to change the allocation of costs and benefits associated with cooperation."<sup>10</sup> is critical for transboundary water cooperation. The purpose of benefit sharing is to ensure that all parties gain benefits and/or absorb costs relevant to their cause or needs. Costs and benefits need not be the same for all recipients, though they should be mutually equitable. Benefit sharing theory argues that if both intended and unintended costs and benefits are distributed equitably, resultant trust can create progress toward peace.<sup>11</sup>

For purposes of this research, *benefits* are positive outcomes that have resulted from the AIES/PWEG initiative. Intended benefits are the benefits project participants expected to generate or receive as a result of their involvement with the initiative. Unintended benefits are benefits that were neither planned nor anticipated by project participants prior to project implementation but have since become apparent. *Consequences* are negative outcomes, or costs, that have resulted from the initiative. Similar to unintended benefits, *unintended consequences*<sup>12</sup> are those consequences that were neither planned nor anticipated by project partners prior to project implementation but have since become apparent. This section seeks to make visible the benefits and consequences associated with the AIES/PWEG initiative by investigating environmental peacebuilding through a benefit sharing lens. Importantly, benefits and consequences must be made known; "otherwise it is hard for the policy-makers to take the necessary steps to capitalize on the cooperation that is taking place."<sup>13</sup>

# Theoretical Framework

The environment ignores political borders, necessitating cooperation between neighboring societies on pressing environmental issues. According to environmental peacebuilding theory, shared Chapter 3

**Promoting Equity** 

natural resources present opportunities for environmental cooperation between parties even if those parties are in conflict in other arenas. This type of cooperation has the potential to build trust, provide mutual benefits, and serve as a platform for dialogue where politics and diplomacy may be limited. Further, environmental cooperation can reduce pressures on scarce resources, allowing benefits to be redistributed across a range of actors in ways that can reduce conflict at multiple levels and in economic, political, social and environmental spheres. Transboundary environmental cooperation through water management may establish relationships and institutions that serve as a foundation for "more difficult processes" like peacebuilding.<sup>14</sup>

There is no guarantee, however, that relationships and institutions established through cooperative transboundary water management will promote peacebuilding. To better understand how institutions can affect behavioral change, it is instructive to consider the work of Young and Levy and their study of international environmental regimes. International environmental regimes are "social institutions consisting of agreed upon principles, norms, rules, procedures, and programs that govern the interactions of actors in specific issue areas."<sup>15</sup> These social institutions can "play a role in setting the agenda for future deliberation, initiating dynamic processes that lead to institutional evolution and, more broadly, influencing the way we think about large-scale environmental problems."<sup>16</sup> Once the benefits and consequences of the AIES/PWEG initiative are made visible, the potential exists for project partners and beneficiaries to engage in an iterative process of redistributing benefits and consequences that can, over time, promote behavioral change. This process of redistributing benefits can serve as a basis for creating formal or informal institutions that are grounded in the principles of benefit sharing and are well positioned to demonstrate the types of social structures that promote peace.

The creation and development of social institutions that promote behavioral change is key to realizing the goals of benefit sharing and environmental cooperation. These institutions are critically important for encouraging large-scale change. However, it is equally essential to localize these institutions through the fostering of community-level participatory processes. Contextually grounded, locally driven, participatory processes can foster the creation of formal and informal institutions that can promote peace. Participation can lead to

...improved legitimacy for decision-making administrations because the increased responsiveness of decision makers to affected parties helps to take into account stakeholder values and create trust; more pertinent and lower-cost decisions because stakeholders add otherwise unavailable vital information, reframe problems, and contribute new ideas; better chances for decision implementation because people are less likely to oppose a decision that they have helped to shape; and increased civic competency and social capital because participant interaction may foster learning related to these aspects.<sup>17</sup>

Local involvement in the shaping of social institutions that support benefit sharing may increase the likelihood that these structures remain sustainable and adaptive over time. By encouraging the participation of locals in the process, the social institutions created will be tailored to the developmental needs of the locals in an environmentally sustainable way. Locals will be more likely to reinforce environmental practices if they are active and powerful stakeholders in the process. Critically, respondents<sup>18</sup> indicated that project partners associated with the AIES/PWEG initiative have continued to seek feedback from project beneficiaries

over time. This feedback, coupled with the benefits and consequences made visible through this research, can potentially provide a foundation for locally relevant, transboundary, cooperative benefit sharing mechanisms.

# Field Observations and Discussion

The field observations presented in this section consider the benefits and consequences of transboundary wastewater cooperation using a typology of benefits adapted from Sadoff and Grey.<sup>19</sup> Three types of cooperative outcomes are examined: outcomes *from* onsite wastewater infrastructure, the *reduction of costs because of* onsite graywater recycling, and outcomes *beyond* onsite wastewater infrastructure. The list of cooperative outcomes generated through the use of this typology is then divided into intended and unintended



Onsite graywater treatment infrastructure in Al 'Oja (photo credit: Courtney Owen)

benefits and unintended consequences below.

#### **Intended Benefits**

AIES and PWEG are explicit about the intended benefits of their joint initiative. Intended benefits include increased water availability; increased income from reduced water costs, "cash savings on cesspits emptying and on drinking water cost,"<sup>20</sup> and greater agricultural productivity; "improve[d] food production for impoverished and vulnerable farmers"<sup>21</sup>; and "reduce[d] hygienic and environmental risks and to protect and to save the scarce water resources."<sup>22</sup> Project beneficiaries acknowledged receiving most of these benefits, noting that recycled graywater is specifically used to irrigate olive trees, date trees, and household plants.<sup>23</sup> Thus, on a small scale, the AIES/PWEG initiative demonstrates how both Israelis and the Palestinians have either directly or indirectly enjoyed mutual benefits from transboundary wastewater cooperation.

#### **Unintended Benefits**

Field research revealed unintended benefits associated with the AIES/PWEG initiative. In fact, the initiative has created a ripple effect of unintended benefits. First,

the initiative catalyzed discussions about gravwater recycling between Israeli and Palestinian NGOs and technical experts that have helped to create and expand a transparent knowledge base. One project beneficiary was enthusiastic about promoting the AIES/PWEG graywater system within his community, claiming that 30 community members had already visited his home to see and learn about the pilot project.<sup>24</sup> Visits from community members curious about the project suggest that AIES and PWEG would be wise to tap this potential by developing an outreach strategy, as promoting and educating communities about graywater recycling will open doors for future cooperation.

Second, intergenerational benefits were also evident in Al 'Oja. One young member of the beneficiary household explicitly expressed interest in installing a graywater system in her own home in the future. Another younger family member living elsewhere within the same community took it upon himself to construct a similar graywater system in his own home and in the home of another older family member. Intergenerational interest in graywater recycling bodes well for the sustainability of the AIES/PWEG initiative and, by

extension, increases the potential for future transboundary cooperation.

Third, AIES and PWEG's transboundary cooperation has produced unintended benefits related to gender roles. The graywater recycling system installed in Al 'Oja saves time and eases household burdens for women and empowers women to play a greater role in managing water resources,<sup>25</sup> as will be discussed in detail in section 3.4.

#### **Unintended Consequences**

Unintended consequences can include financial, institutional, political, and relational costs.<sup>26</sup> In this case, unintended consequences were not immediately identified or acknowledged by project participants. When asked about unintended consequences, beneficiaries at the Al 'Oja pilot site had difficulty articulating negative outcomes associated with the project. However, further questioning revealed that the graywater recycling system's electric pump had failed and that a replacement pump had been purchased with household funds. Though this was not perceived as a negative outcome,<sup>27</sup> it may be construed as such given that it represents an unforeseen financial burden for project recipients. The pump was relatively new when it failed,

raising possible concerns about long-term project sustainability. Respondents also noted that the electricity required by the pump had increased household energy costs – another unintended consequence.<sup>28</sup> Such unforeseen costs may deter others from pursuing similar graywater recycling systems in their own homes.

### Analysis

Evidence shows that the PWEG/AIES initiative is successfully producing its intended benefits, but that its unintended benefits remain largely hidden or unapparent to project beneficiaries. Unintended benefits should be recognized and further explored in order to strengthen positive spillover from transboundary wastewater cooperation. The expansion and promotion of unintended benefit sharing in other cooperative domains facilitates a multifaceted approach to peacebuilding in which different avenues toward peace can be explored.

A key unintended benefit of AIES and PWEG's transboundary water cooperation is peacebuilding. Peacebuilding, as defined by the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), is defined as "activities undertaken on the far side of conflict to reassemble the foundations of

peace and provide the tools for building on those foundations, something that is more than just the absence of war.<sup>29</sup> While practical and political concerns may discourage implementing organizations from highlighting peacebuilding as an explicit goal,<sup>30</sup> the intended sharing of benefits occurring through their activities spills over into other cooperative arenas that can in turn lead to peace.<sup>31</sup> The concept of "unstable cooperation" highlights the idea that water cooperation, despite limited resources, may open the door to "confronting other political disputes."<sup>32</sup>

Despite political and physical barriers such as the Green Line, cooperative wastewater dialogues and actions between groups and individuals create a foundation for future peace. Participatory processes build trust between Israelis and Palestinians by bringing them together in their respective communities. However, while cooperation is occurring on a technical level, this only represents one small area in the broad range of cooperation needed to achieve meaningful peace. Water cooperation evolves into broader forms of political cooperation only if it is integrated into an economic and political institutional context.<sup>33</sup> The continuation and further development of benefit sharing across

multiple domains should thus be explored, as this can ultimately lead to the promotion of both formal and informal social institutions that can be leveraged to promote peace.

### Conclusion

The primary objective of this research is to assess the peacebuilding significance of benefit sharing mechanisms associated with the AIES/PWEG initiative. Evidence suggests that, while the initiative is producing both positive and negative cooperative outcomes, these outcomes remain unacknowledged by project participants. Making these benefits and consequences visible is an important step in unlocking the benefit sharing potential that exists as a result of the project. While a number of intended and unintended benefits and consequences are identified here, efforts should be made to uncover additional benefits and consequences. Project partners are currently working to administer a survey to project beneficiaries,<sup>34</sup> which may serve as a valuable tool toward that end.

Once benefits and consequences have been identified, opportunities to capitalize on these cooperative outcomes through mutually equitable benefit sharing mechanisms can be developed and

implemented. For example, AIES and PWEG could further cultivate unintended benefits by explicitly incorporating them into future project goals. One such goal could involve directly engaging and expanding the network of individuals and groups who enjoy the unintended benefits of the initiative. This network could encompass schools, community groups, women, and other actors, all of whom should be encouraged to actively engage in the participatory processes associated with local environmental initiatives.

Benefit sharing can also be leveraged to promote information sharing within a community. Project participants who were indirectly benefiting from graywater projects did not fully understand the importance of graywater recycling.<sup>35</sup> Also, the cooperation occurring between Israelis and Palestinians was not broadly known throughout project communities or to indirect project beneficiaries. AIES and PWEG should thus increase their education and outreach efforts to encompass a greater variety of beneficiaries. Knowledge about ongoing cooperative efforts should be promoted within communities that have already accepted graywater recycling projects. The lack of communication regarding the AIES/PWEG initiative decreases the chance

that transboundary wastewater cooperation will build trust that ultimately leads to peace.<sup>36</sup>

However, dialogue and information sharing do not necessarily lead to action. Talking about cooperative transboundary wastewater management, while important, is not enough. Onsite graywater recycling initiatives address environmental problems on a small scale, but more action is needed. AIES and PWEG's efforts are transcending political boundaries, but benefit sharing is hindered by the project's unintended consequences and by conflict-related challenges. Despite these obstacles, however, cooperative management of transboundary wastewater and the use of benefit sharing mechanisms present attractive alternatives to traditional distributive methods and can lay the groundwork for future participatory processes and social institutions.

# **3.4 Gender and Peacebuilding**

This section discusses the gender dynamics and gender impacts of the AIES/PWEG initiative within the larger framework of environmental peacebuilding theory. Gender, a social construct differentiating women and men, determines Chapter 3

Promoting Equity

one's personal experience of conflict. Gender roles are culture-specific, evolving, and influenced by age, race, class, ethnicity, and other factors.<sup>37</sup> Power is fundamental to the construction of gender. In fact, women's and men's access to productive resources and decision-making authority are consistently asymmetrical because of underlying power inequities.<sup>38</sup> These power inequities define gender relations by influencing access to and control over resources, participation in society, and the realization of human rights.<sup>39</sup> Women's subordinate roles during times of peace make them particularly vulnerable during times of conflict,<sup>40</sup> meaning that unequal power structures in the Palestinian West Bank society make Palestinian women particularly vulnerable in the context of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict.<sup>41</sup>

A gender perspective "places women at the center of analysis because across history and cultures, women have been denied equality, autonomy, and power. Women as a group have experienced diverse forms of violence from men as a group, because they have lacked power and because states or communities have failed to protect them or have in fact punished them."<sup>42</sup> A gender analysis, on the other hand, illustrates that harmful forms of masculinity and femininity can be strengthened during the peacebuilding process.<sup>43</sup> Gender analysis is an important tool in ensuring that peacebuilding projects do not reinforce unequal power relationships by exacerbating unequal access to resources and unequal participation.<sup>44</sup>

Given the importance of gender in peacebuilding, this report would be incomplete without a gender perspective and analysis. This section thus employs theories of gender and peacebuilding to demonstrate the significance of gender to AIES and PWEG's goals, and provides a gender analysis of their joint graywater recycling initiative.



Undertreated effluent in the Palestinian West Bank (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

# Gender and Peacebuilding Theory

Due to unequal power structures, cultural norms, and gendered codes of behavior, women and men have different roles and responsibilities during both conflict and peacebuilding processes. Women's roles in conflict have traditionally been characterized as "peripheral and insignificant" by policymakers and government bodies.<sup>45</sup> Historically, women's contributions to peacebuilding have been overlooked because they "take unconventional forms, occur outside formal peace processes, or are considered extensions of women's existing gender roles."46 Women often fail to recognize their own peacebuilding activities because they are incorporated into tasks that women are already expected to fulfill, such as ensuring the safety of the family and accessing social services.<sup>47</sup> Women have been largely generalized as passive victims, while men have typically been associated with active hostility. Victimization is an important aspect of the female experience of conflict, but focusing solely on this point can result in a personification of women as "voiceless victims, often devoid of agency, moral conscience, and economic potential."48 This tendency is problematic because it ignores

women as a potential asset in building peace.

Recognizing this weakness, gender mainstreaming gradually entered conventional thought and policy in the latter half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, culminating in the 1995 Fourth UN World Conference on Women.<sup>49</sup> In 2000, the importance of women in peacebuilding was identified in UN Security Council Resolution 1325.<sup>50</sup> Despite progress in international rhetoric regarding gender sensitivity, peacebuilding efforts continue to fail to address the power dynamics underlying gender roles. This failure creates the potential for institutionalized gender-based discrimination.<sup>51</sup> Equity and peacebuilding are inextricably linked, and peacebuilding must therefore address gender-based discrimination.<sup>52</sup> Women's potential as assets in the peacebuilding process should be utilized.<sup>53</sup> Little attention is currently paid to how gender norms are constructed, yet gender norms can be transformed to support more equitable gender relations, protect human rights, and lead to peacebuilding.<sup>54</sup> Improving gender sensitivity in peacebuilding will foster "gender equitable outcomes," a fundamental component of sustainable peace.<sup>55</sup>

# Methodology

This section's research was designed to determine 1) how the AIES/PWEG initiative affects men and women differently, and 2) how this knowledge can help AIES and PWEG achieve their goals. Multiple modes of analysis were used to examine gender at the organizational level (within AIES and PWEG) and at the household level (within beneficiary communities). Program management, project implementation, and project beneficiaries were analyzed through a gender lens. Gender was investigated in terms of both participatory (i.e., who participates and to what extent) and distributional (i.e., who gets what) features.

At the organizational level, research assessed the extent to which the AIES/PWEG initiative incorporated gender concerns into program and project design. This was accomplished through interviews and informal conversations with AIES and PWEG representatives and a review of the organizations' websites and published literature. At the household level, research examined the initiative's impacts on gender dynamics at project sites. This was carried out through conversations with a range of actors in project communities. Household analysis explored project participants' gendered differences in motivations to engage in the initiative, participation levels, costs and benefits, and perceptions of the initiative's peacebuilding significance. Changes in women's and men's activity patterns and workloads were examined, as well as access to and control of the resources generated by the initiative.

# Findings and Discussion

#### **Organizational Level**

The AIES/PWEG initiative lacks a gender strategy. Additionally, both partner organizations lack individual gender strategies. This represents a significant missed opportunity in terms of both project sustainability and funding. Gender strategies are widely recognized as critical for the success of development and peacebuilding efforts. Projects that incorporate gender equity and women's empowerment as pathways to development and peace are increasingly awarded sustained funding by international donors, and many donors perceive a lack of a gender strategy as a significant weakness in project design. As an example, UNESCO cited a lack of a gender balance strategy as a weakness in its evaluation of Battir's application to become a World Heritage Site.56 One AIES/PWEG project leader emphasized that the joint

initiative strives to ensure women's participation despite its lack of an explicit gender strategy.<sup>57</sup> This is at least partially supported by AIES and PWEG discourse and the fact that both organizations are led by a team consisting of one woman and one man. The directors of both organizations are male, however.

#### **Household Level**

Field evidence suggests that women and men have different reasons for engaging in environmental projects, and that some of the benefits of participation in the AIES/PWEG initiative are more obvious to women than men. Because women are typically responsible for caregiving, they are more interested in the potential of projects to improve family health. A respondent involved in community assessments for Battir's UNESCO application indicated that women were most interested in participating in the project as a means of improving health and hygiene in the home, while men were more interested in logistical issues.<sup>58</sup> Similarly, a community assessment for an environmental project in Taybeh reportedly showed that women identified health, food, and hygiene issues as highly important for their involvement in the project.<sup>59</sup> Recognizing gender-specific motives for

participation can allow AIES and PWEG to increase project sustainability and improve outcomes by targeting women specifically.

Project benefits accrue differently to men and women. A female engineer indicated that graywater recycling projects generate specific benefits for women by easing household responsibilities. Cesspits can overflow and spread illness through fecal contamination, but graywater recycling significantly reduces this concern. Women are largely responsible for caring for the sick and thus stand to benefit directly from improved health outcomes. When washing clothes and engaging in other activities that produce graywater, women worry less about overloading cesspits because the effluent is diverted for productive agricultural use. Excess household income is typically spent on food, and because women are largely responsible for family meals, they benefit directly from the cost savings associated with graywater recycling.<sup>60</sup>

A young female respondent in the Al 'Oja recipient household reported that the graywater recycling system reduces the time spent irrigating crops as well as the frequency (and thus cost) of cesspit pumping. She indicated that the system made housework for her mother and brothers easier and gave them more free

#### Chapter 3

time. She also expressed a desire to have a graywater recycling system for her own home in the future.<sup>61</sup>

Though female respondents did report perceiving project benefits, it was evident that girls in beneficiary households were not educated on how the graywater recycling system functions or how its benefits can be optimized. This suggests that girls were largely excluded from project planning. There were no reported femalespecific costs associated with the project.

Project beneficiaries perceived the AIES/PWEG initiative's peacebuilding significance as minimal. One respondent stated that she liked knowing that Israelis and Palestinians were working together, but that she had not interacted with any Israelis through her involvement with the project.<sup>62</sup> Most respondents recognized the initiative primarily for its ability to improve household well-being and did not link it with the broader Israeli-Palestinian conflict.

# Conclusions and Recommendations

The AIES/PWEG initiative's lack of gender strategy reflects a significant missed opportunity. The incorporation of a gender strategy and gender impact assessment at the organizational and household levels could



Graywater treatment system installed in Al 'Oja (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

increase project sustainability by helping to secure additional funding and fostering community support.

In terms of community support, men and women have different motives for participation. Women benefit from the initiative in ways that are underappreciated by men, as graywater recycling eases domestic burdens for which women are typically responsible. AIES and PWEG should recognize this discrepancy as an opportunity. Highlighting the projects' gendered benefits will allow AIES and PWEG to specifically target women within project communities, thereby encouraging additional support of the initiative. A comprehensive gender strategy may also help AIES and PWEG secure additional funding and, in turn, allow other families to share in the benefits of graywater recycling. The international donor community considers gender strategies critical for the success of development and peacebuilding projects. The up-scaling envisioned by AIES and PWEG will require greater funding and more reliable funding sources, and demonstrating an effective gender strategy to international donors can help achieve this goal by opening doors to additional funding opportunities.

To that end, AIES and PWEG should conduct a gender impact assessment at both the organizational level and the household/community level. This assessment should detail the impacts of the project for men and women, acknowledging their differing roles and identifying gendered costs and benefits. This would also provide useful insight on how to further empower women through the initiative. From there, AIES and PWEG should develop a strategy for increasing gender balance. These efforts would make project up-scaling more feasible and help women by providing opportunities for meaningful participation, decreasing household burdens, and improving well-being. Taken together, all of these outcomes stand to significantly strengthen the initiative's peacebuilding significance.

### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> "The World Factbook," *Central Intelligence Agency*, accessed July 23, 2013, https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the -world-factbook/.

<sup>2</sup> United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, UNCTAD Policy Brief: The Palestinian Economy: Towards Recovery and Sustained Growth (Geneva: UNCTAD Press, 2009).

<sup>3</sup> Interview with Informant 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>4</sup> Interview with Informant 4, June 25, 2013.

<sup>5</sup> "Graywater for Domestic Users: An Information Guide," May 2011, Enviornment Agency, accessed July 10, 2013, cdn.environmentagency.gov.uk/geho0511btwc-e-e.pdf.

<sup>6</sup> Karen Assaf et al., *Water as a Human Right: The Understanding of Water in the Arab Countries of the Middle East - A Four Country Analysis* (Ramallah: Heinrich Böll Foundation, Arab Middle East Office, 2004), 15. <sup>7</sup> Christopher Cramer, "Inequality and Conflict: A Review of an Age-Old Concern" (Identities, Conflict, and Cohesion Programme Paper Number 11, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development, Geneva, 2005), iii.

<sup>8</sup> United Nations, *Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future* (1987), accessed November 3, 2013, http://www.undocuments.net/wced-ocf.htm.

<sup>9</sup> UNCTAD, *The Palestinian Economy*.

<sup>10</sup> Claudia W. Sadoff and David Grey, "Cooperation on International Rivers: A Continuum for Securing and Sharing Benefits," *International Water Resources Association* 30, no. 4(2005): 422.

<sup>11</sup> Ibid., 5.

<sup>12</sup> This concept is borrowed from the work of Robert K. Merton. For consistency within the piece, the term *unintended* is used here rather than *unanticipated*; Robert K. Merton, "The Unanticipated Consequences of Purposive Social Action," *American Sociological Review* 1, no. 6(1936): 894-904.

<sup>13</sup> Anders Jägerskog, "Functional Water Cooperation in the Jordan River Basin: Spillover or Spillback for Political Security?," in *Facing Global Environmental Change: Environmental, Human, Energy, Food, Health and Water Security Concepts*, ed. Hans Günter Brauch et al., (Berlin: Springer, 2009), 640. <sup>14</sup> Sadoff and Grey, *Cooperation on International Rivers: A Continuum*, 426.

<sup>15</sup> Oran R. Young and Marc A. Levy, *The Effectiveness of International Environmental Regimes: Causal Connections and Behavioral Mechanisms*, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 1999), 1.

<sup>16</sup> Ibid., 14.

<sup>17</sup> Yorck von Korff et al., "Designing Participation Processes for Water Management and Beyond," *Ecology and Society* 15, no. 3(2010): 1.

<sup>18</sup> Interviews with Informants 3 and 4, June 25, 2013.

<sup>19</sup> Claudia W. Sadoff and David Grey,
"Beyond the River: The Benefits of Cooperation on International Rivers," *Water Policy* 4(2002): 389.

<sup>20</sup> Rehab Daher and Monther Hind, Protection of Groundwater Resources by Grey Wastewater Management and Reuse: When Conventional Wasetwater Management is not Affordable (Ramallah: Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, 2006).

<sup>21</sup> "Enhancement of Food Security in Taybeh and Ramoun through Rural Development and Agricultural Extension," Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, accessed November 3, 2013, http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/project s/57-enhancement-of-food-security-intaybeh-and-ramoun-through-ruraldevelopment-and-agricultural-extension#. <sup>22</sup> Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, *Palestinian Wastewater Gained Experience*, accessed November 3, 2013, www.palweg.org/index.php/en/component/a ttachments/download/24.

<sup>23</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25,
2013; Interview with Informant 15, June 27,
2013.

<sup>24</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>25</sup> Ibid.

<sup>26</sup> Sadoff and Grey, *Cooperation on International Rivers: A Continuum*, 425.

<sup>27</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>28</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>29</sup> United Nations, Report of the Panel on United Nations Peace Operations –
"Brahimi Report" (2000), accessed on November 3, 2013, http://www.un.org/en/peacekeeping/resource s/reports.shtml.

<sup>30</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>31</sup> Alexander Carius, "Special Report -Environmental Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success," *Environmental Change and Security Program Report* 12(2006-2007): 59-75. <sup>32</sup> Mark Zeitoun and Naho Mirumachi, "Transboundary Water Interaction I: Reconsidering Conflict and Cooperation," *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics* 8, no. 4(2008): 297-316.

<sup>33</sup> Ibid.

<sup>34</sup> Interviews with Informants 3 and 4, June 25, 2013.

<sup>35</sup> Interview with Informant 8, June 25, 2013.

<sup>36</sup> Alexander Carius, "Environmental Peacebuilding - Environmental Cooperation as an Instrument for Crisis Prevention and Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success and Constraints," *Adelphi Report* 3(2006): 11.

<sup>37</sup> Richard Strickland and Nata Duvvury,
"Gender Equity and Peacebuilding - From Rhetoric to Reality: Finding the Way"
(discussion paper, International Centre for Research on Women, Washington, D.C., 2003).
http://www.icrw.org/files/publications/Gend

er-Equity-and-Peacebuilding-From-Rhetoric-to-Reality.pdf.

<sup>38</sup> Ibid.

<sup>39</sup> Ibid.

<sup>40</sup> Valentine M. Moghadam, "Peacebuilding and Reconstruction with Women: Reflections on Afghanistan, Iraq and Palestine," *Development* 48, no. 3(2005): 63-72. <sup>41</sup> Ibid., 68.

<sup>42</sup> Ibid., 69-70.

<sup>43</sup> Ibid., 70.

<sup>44</sup> Ibid., 63-72.

<sup>45</sup> Myriam Denov, *Girls in Fighting Forces: Moving Beyond Victimhood* (Quebec: Canadian International Development Agency, 2007), http://www.crin.org/docs/CIDA\_Beyond\_fo rces.pdf.

<sup>46</sup> Strickland and Duvvury, "Gender Equity and Peacebuilding."

<sup>47</sup> Ibid.

<sup>48</sup> Denov, Girls in Fighting Forces.

<sup>49</sup> Jacqui True and Michaek Mintrom,
"Transnational Networks and Policy Diffusion: The Case of Gender Mainstreaming," *International Studies Quarterly* 45, no. 1(2001): 27-57.

<sup>50</sup> United Nations Security Council, 55th year. "Resolution 1325 [Women and Peace and Security]", October 31, 2000. In *Resolutions and Decisions of the Security Council 2000* (S/RES/1325). Official Record. New York, 2000.

<sup>51</sup> Strickland and Duvvury, "Gender Equity and Peacebuilding."

<sup>52</sup> Ibid.

<sup>53</sup> Ibid.

<sup>54</sup> Ibid.

<sup>55</sup> Ibid.

<sup>56</sup> United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization-Greece Melina Mercouri International Prize for the Safeguarding and Management of Cultural Landscapes, *Application Evaluation 2010 -Executive Summary, Battir Cultural Landscape (Occupied Territory),* accessed November 3, 2013, http://www.unesco.org/culture/melina/palest ine-IFLA/PALESTINIAN.pdf.

<sup>57</sup> Interview with Informant 4, June 25, 2013.

<sup>58</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>59</sup> Interview with Informant 15, June 27, 2013.

<sup>60</sup> Interview with Informant 4, June 25, 2013.

<sup>61</sup> Interview with Informant 8, June 25, 2013.

<sup>62</sup> Ibid.



# **Chapter 4** Relationship Building

# 4.1 Introduction

Relationship building as a strategy for transforming conflict dynamics and promoting peace has received much attention in literature and research connected to the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. Much of this research has focused on the role that encounter programs, public peace processes, and a host of dialogic methods may play in diffusing tensions, creating a political environment that is ripe for Track 1 diplomacy efforts, and reimagining conflict situations as spaces for constructive rather than destructive engagement. This chapter seeks to add to this body of research by considering how environmental initiatives in the region can serve as platforms for cultivating sustainable relational networks capable of transforming conflict.

# 4.2 Relationship Building and Peace

This chapter examines the peacebuilding significance of the relationships being created, strengthened, and sustained through the AIES/PWEG initiative. A review of the organizations' literature suggests that both AIES and PWEG believe they are engaging in relationship building. As AIES notes, they provide "a platform whereby... real and long-lasting relationships built on trust and integrity are created among those who are responsible for the sustainable management of the region's fragile water resources."<sup>1</sup> Likewise, PWEG's brochure speaks to its ambitions to build technical and organizational capacity by connecting likeminded professionals.<sup>2</sup> A nuanced understanding of the quality and character of the relationships these organizations are building is critically important. Equally important is a working knowledge of how these relationships connect to broader peacebuilding aims, as regional dynamics necessitate conflict-sensitive project planning and implementation. Through an analysis of the relational networks and resultant information sharing occurring through the AIES/PWEG initiative, this chapter identifies ways in which relationship building is promoting peacebuilding and suggests ways to further leverage those relationships to deepen peacebuilding significance.

# Theoretical Framework

The theoretical perspective employed herein focuses on how sustained relationships can be leveraged to transform

conflict dynamics and build constituencies for positive peace. Positive peace is recognized as the absence of structural violence<sup>3</sup> and the presence of institutions, attitudes, and behaviors that support socially just. equitable societies.<sup>4</sup> Peace constituencies can be activated within a community to facilitate the formulation and development of positive peace. Peace constituencies are "networks of people who act in concert to build sustainable peace... [They] are multisectoral and can include any social actor working for peace."<sup>5</sup> Peace constituencies can serve as "strategic anchor points that link different but necessarily interdependent constituencies, processes, and geographic localities"<sup>6</sup> as efforts to create sustainable, long-term change move forward. Relational centers that "hold, create, and sustain connections" are key to peacebuilding.<sup>7</sup> Understanding the peacebuilding significance of relationship building requires examining the quality and character of connections being built, as those connections can be leveraged later to mobilize peace constituencies in the creation of positive peace.

### Methodology

The Positive Peace Index (PPI) is helpful in determining how to measure the

peacebuilding significance of sustained relationships. PPI utilizes a systems approach to measure the strength of attitudes, institutions, and structures of individual nation-states in order to reveal their capacities to create and maintain a peaceful society.8 It analyzes twenty-four indicators organized into eight distinct domains. One such domain is referred to as Free Flow of Information, which captures "how easily citizens within a nation-state can gain access to information, whether the media is free and independent, as well as the extent to which citizens are informed and engaged in the political process."9 This domain - and particularly its attention to citizen engagement and access to information – informs this chapter's methodological approach. An analysis based on this domain emphasizes the importance of freely flowing information among institutions that promote positive peace, uncovers relational dynamics as expressed through the exchange of informational power, and investigates information sharing platforms<sup>10</sup> – an often-lauded outcome of environmental peacebuilding projects.

Informational power and its connections to social influence must be understood in order to establish the link between information sharing and

relationship building. Social influence is defined as "a change in the belief, attitude, or behavior of a person...which results from the action of another person."<sup>11</sup> Social power is defined as "the *potential* for such influence, the ability of the agent or power figure to bring about such change, using resources available to him or her."<sup>12</sup> Available resources, or bases of power, take many forms. One such form is informational power, or the ability of one actor to provide information to another actor that can cause him or her to think and/or act differently.<sup>13</sup>

The concept of informational power and its links to social power and influence align with concepts drawn out by John Paul Lederach. Lederach examines how the metaphor of voice relates to individuals' connections to a peace process:

...voice constitutes a social geography mapped and measured by the distance needed to create a sense of engagement. More literally, voice is about meaningful conversation and power. Meaningful conversation suggests mutuality, understanding, and accessibility. Power suggests that the conversation makes a difference: Our voices are heard and have some impact on the direction of the process and the decisions made.<sup>14</sup>

Coupling the ideas of informational power and voice helps explain why information sharing is an appropriate proxy for relationship building. Information sharing, or the exchange of informational power, can signify changes in attitudes or behavior. It follows then that enhanced information sharing and improved relationship building can develop in parallel over time.

Network analysis and network theory provide a basis for modeling the flow of information through relational networks. In network analysis, nodes and connections between nodes represent the quality and character of relationships.<sup>15</sup> A network map of the AIES/PWEG initiative is depicted in Figure 4.1. In this particular network map, the quality and character of the connections between the nodes are based on respondents' answers to interview questions regarding the free flow of information between themselves and others in the relational network. Network analyses often use line weights and arrows to describe the strength and directionality of flows through a network. In this case, however, the relative strengths of relationships and their directionality were difficult to determine for all groups except AIES and PWEG. Strength and directionality are thus indicated only between the project partners, as many sources were able to independently verify an observable mutual strengthening of their

relationship. With these caveats in mind, Figure 4.1 highlights key insights about the relationship building process initiated by the AIES/PWEG partnership.

# Key Findings

# 'Power With' Rather Than 'Power Over' Partnerships

A worldview grounded in the aspirations of conflict transformation is focused on interdependence<sup>16</sup> and "promotes an inclusive and cooperative attitude to relationships in which power is 'pooled' and becomes 'power with,' so that the question of symmetry or asymmetry is transcended.<sup>17</sup> This is in contrast to a 'power over' approach which "seeks and exploits asymmetries of power"<sup>18</sup> Applying a conflict transformation framework to peacebuilding sheds light on the powersharing and joint participation dimensions of social relations.<sup>19</sup> This same framework, when applied to the network map in Figure 4.1, highlights qualities that make AIES and PWEG ideal candidates for a partnership that can demonstrate the potential available in 'power with' rather than 'power over' peacebuilding strategies.



First, there is observable parity in terms of access to international organizations and entities outside of the regional context. This parity allows both organizations to have unique and distinctive voices on the international stage without the help of an intermediary. This means that both organizations have access to funding streams and resources independent of one another, providing a level of symmetry at the international level. In fact, as several respondents indicated, the AIES/PWEG partnership began when both organizations were invited as equals to bid on a project sponsored by the World Bank.

Second, the interdependent aspects of their AIES/PWEG relationship are evident: both organizations serve as gateways to actors within their respective governments. AIES provides a gateway for the environmental interests of PWEG and other project affiliates to reach the Israeli government. PWEG, on the other hand, is an ambassador for the needs of Palestinian local communities and regional councils. Together, the two organizations have a wide range of potential influence in the region – far wider than either organization has alone.

In an interview, one respondent noted that AIES and PWEG seem to enjoy working with one another – not because they have to but rather because they want to – and expressed curiosity about how the two organizations will move forward in the future.<sup>20</sup> Both AIES and PWEG seem to understand the potential generated through pooling resources and are leveraging their individual and collective skills and influence to effect change in the region. In this way, they are highlighting the importance of building 'power with' rather than 'power over' partnerships.

#### **Modeling Peacebuilding Relationships**

The AIES/PWEG initiative not only demonstrates the benefits of recycled wastewater but also provides a model for the quality and character of sustained relationships that promote peacebuilding. Project partners demonstrate that they can change the conflict dynamics around them simply by being themselves.<sup>21</sup> According to noted peace practitioner Thich Nhat Hahn, "An oak tree is an oak tree. That is all it has to do. If an oak tree is less than an oak tree, then we are all in trouble... Without doing anything... the oak tree is helpful to all of us just by being there. Every time we look at the oak tree we have confidence."<sup>22</sup> The AIES/PWEG partnership is valuable as much for its wastewater outcomes as for its ability to demonstrate healthy relationship

building between Israelis and Palestinians. The ongoing partnership between AIES and PWEG embodies both realized and latent potential for cooperative efforts in the region. At least one respondent indicated that the project and the Israeli-Palestinian partnership give her hope for the future.<sup>23</sup>

# Emphasis on Strengthening Existing Ties – Not Cultivating New Ones

Findings suggest that the AIES/PWEG initiative strengthens existing ties between individuals, organizations, and institutions but does less to cultivate new relationships and extend relational networks beyond the epistemic sphere. Two respondents indicated that primary project beneficiaries tend to have an existing relationship with one or both of the project partners.<sup>24</sup> Strengthening existing ties can build trust among partners and create opportunities for long-term planning, but failing to cultivate new ties may preclude meaningful engagement with new actors.<sup>25</sup> Failure to engage new actors can reduce the flexibility of the relational network and hinder its ability to overcome challenges that emerge over time.

#### **Potential to Build Relational Platforms**

Relational platforms allow for the continued, adaptive generation of creative

ideas and solutions for the challenges that emerge in conflict settings.<sup>26</sup> Relational platforms that create ongoing change

...are built by supporting constructive engagement of people who have been historically divided and who are or may remain in significant levels of conflict...are more important that the individual solutions they create...[and] generate processes that produce solutions and potentially transform the epicenter of relationships in context.<sup>27</sup>

Onsite graywater recycling projects can build relational platforms between Israeli and Palestinian stakeholders. In three separate interviews, conversations about graywater reuse evolved into conversations about human rights,<sup>28</sup> dignity,<sup>29</sup> and what it means to be human.<sup>30</sup> These interviews suggest that the AIES/PWEG initiative has the potential to create a platform for ongoing and systemic change that transcends strict environmental and development outcomes.

Significant challenges must be overcome to realize this potential, however. One recognized shortcoming of environmental peacebuilding is "its inability to transform environmental cooperation into broader forms of political cooperation and initiate a social and political dialogue going beyond environmental aspects."<sup>31</sup> This shortcoming is supported by field observations. In group settings where both

#### Chapter 4

Israelis and Palestinians were gathered to discuss issues related to the AIES/PWEG initiative, several individuals shared insights about the human condition that extended into social and political spheres.

While these conversations effectively lay the groundwork for a relational platform for systemic change, anecdotal evidence suggests that the platform is being underutilized. To cite one example, when a respondent interrupted a conversation to give an impassioned soliloguy about the injustices and affronts to human dignity that he encounters daily, other respondents became silent and failed to comment directly on the issues he raised. Instead, after a brief pause, individuals returned to their conversations. In this way, the moment – and its potential – went largely unacknowledged by the group. The relational platform is thus being used as a space for facilitating dialogue and venting frustrations, but it is not being used to extend action beyond the scope of the project itself. This can be problematic given that dialogue without action can, in the long run, reinforce rather than transform conflict dynamics and existing oppression.<sup>32</sup> Perhaps if someone had employed dialogic strategies to make visible connections between the initiative, personal experiences of injustice,



Sluice gate used to divert agricultural water in Battir (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

and the wider regional context, creative synergies may have been able to foster "movement toward a new horizon in order to redefine both the moment and the relationship."<sup>33</sup>

### Conclusion

This chapter's key question is "What is the peacebuilding significance of the relationships cultivated through the AIES/PWEG initiative?" Analysis reveals that the initiative promotes peacebuilding in two critical ways. First, it showcases the type of relationship between partners that can encourage peacebuilding. AIES and PWEG demonstrate the important role of relationships in peacebuilding simply by leveraging their individual skills to work together in the region. Second, the initiative strengthens existing relationships among project partners and beneficiaries. Strengthened relationships can foster trust building and increase the likelihood that partners will engage in long-term planning over time.

There are also areas where peacebuilding opportunities can be further leveraged. The initiative strengthens existing relationships but does less to cultivate new relationships beyond the epistemic community. This represents a missed opportunity to develop resilient, flexible relational networks capable of responding to new challenges. While the initiative creates new platforms for dialogue and action, these platforms are currently underutilized and may unintentionally reinforce rather than transform conflict dynamics. This represents a missed opportunity to connect the cooperative energy associated with the project to larger social and political issues in the region. Despite the missed opportunities, however, the AIES/PWEG initiative and the relational networks it has cultivated do contribute to and promote peacebuilding efforts in the region.

# Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Center for Transboundary Water Management at Arava Institute for Environmental Studies and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, *Decentralized Wastewater Treatment and Reuse: A Transboundary Approach to Environmental, Social and Technical Issues of Wastewater Infrastructure Development – A Pilot Project in Al 'Oja Village, Palestine* (2012), 5.

<sup>2</sup> Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, Information Brochure (2013).

<sup>3</sup> Johan Galtung, "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research," *Journal of Peace Research* 6, no. 3(1969): 167-191.

<sup>4</sup> Institute for Economics and Peace, *Global Peace Index 2013*, accessed on July 22, 2013,

http://www.visionofhumanity.org/#/page/ind exes/global-peace-index.

<sup>5</sup> Cécile Mouly, "Peace Constituencies in Peacebuilding: The Mesas de Concertación in Guatemala," in *Whose Peace? Critical Perspectives on the Political Economy of Peacebuilding*, ed. Michael Pugh, Neil Cooper and Mandy Turner, (New York: Palgrave MacMillan, 2008), 302-317.

<sup>6</sup> John Paul Lederach, *The Moral Imagination: The Art and Soul of Building Peace* (New York: Oxford University Press, Inc., 2005), 84.

<sup>7</sup> Ibid., 85.

<sup>8</sup> Institute for Economics and Peace, *Global Peace Index 2013*.

9 Ibid.

<sup>10</sup> Alexander Carius, "Special Report -Environmental Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success," *Environmental Change and Security Program Report* 12(2006-2007): 59-75.

<sup>11</sup> Bertram H. Raven, "The Bases of Power and the Power/Interaction Model of Interpersonal Influence," *Analyses of Social Issues and Public Policy* 8, no. 1(2008): 1.

<sup>12</sup> Ibid.

<sup>13</sup> Ibid., 1-22.

<sup>14</sup> Lederach, *The Moral Imagination*, 56.

<sup>15</sup> John Scott and Peter J. Carrington, *The SAGE Handbook of Social Network Analysis* (Los Angeles: SAGE Publications, 2011), 9-54.

<sup>16</sup> Diana Francis, "New Thoughts on Power: Closing the Gap between Theory and Action," in *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, ed. Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann (Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2011), 505-525, under "Section I: Concepts and Cross-Cutting Challenges," http://www.berghofhandbook.net/all.

<sup>17</sup> Ibid., 507.

<sup>18</sup> Ibid.

<sup>19</sup> Hannah Reich, *Berghof Occasional Paper No. 27 – "Local Ownership" in Conflict Transformation Projects: Partnership, Participation, or Patronage*? (Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2006), accessed November 3, 2013, http://www.berghofconflictresearch.org/en/publications/occasio nal-papers/.

<sup>20</sup> Interview with Informant 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>21</sup> Thich Nhat Hanh, *Being Peace* (Berkeley: Parallax Press, 2005), 33.

<sup>22</sup> Ibid.

<sup>23</sup> Interview with Informant 8, June 25, 2013.

<sup>24</sup> Interviews with Informants 5 and 6, June 25, 2013.

<sup>25</sup> Lederach, *The Moral Imagination*, 48-49.

<sup>26</sup> Ibid.

<sup>27</sup> Ibid.

<sup>28</sup> Interview with Informant 16, June 27, 2013.

<sup>29</sup> Interview with Informant 11, June 26, 2013.

<sup>30</sup> Interviews with Informants 20 and 21, June 27, 2013.

<sup>31</sup> Carius, "Special Report - Environmental Peacebuilding," 66.

<sup>32</sup> Mohammed Abu-Nimer, "Education for Coexistence and Arab-Jewish Encounters in Israel: Potential and Challenges," *Journal of Social Issues* 60, no. 2(2004): 405-422. <sup>33</sup> Lederach, *The Moral Imagination*, 40.



# **Chapter 5** Changing Perceptions

# 5.1 Introduction

Chapter Five explores ways in which the AIES/PWEG initiative can change perceptions through environmental peacebuilding. Peacebuilding efforts cannot be effective or sustainable unless they catalyze meaningful change in conflict actors' pre-existing conceptions of the conflict. The three studies presented in this chapter investigate three key avenues by which perceptual change can contribute to the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative: discursive change, changes in perceptions of "the other," and changes in perceptions of the natural environment. Analysis draws from a range of theoretical perspectives including environmental peacebuilding, regime theory, contact theory, and Lederach's "peace pyramid." The goal of this chapter is to highlight the perceptual changes occurring through the AIES/PWEG and present ways in which perceptual change can be further integrated in project outcomes.

# 5.2 Discursive Change

# Introduction

Across numerous domains, instruments of structural violence heavily impact interaction between Israel and the Palestinian West Bank. Structural violence is a codified social injustice<sup>1</sup> that promotes an "unequal exchange" of access and resources between groups.<sup>2</sup> Hydrological resources are not immune. Particular to the transboundary waterscape, the JWC stands as a tool of structural violence. As detailed earlier, the JWC apportions access to the basic human necessity of water in a discriminatory fashion resulting in prolonged Palestinian deprivation, forestalled Palestinian autonomy, and the preservation of the asymmetric balance of hydro-political power.<sup>3</sup> The theory of positive peace holds that peace is more than merely the absence of physical violence but also mandates the abolition of violent structures within a society.<sup>4</sup> Comprehensive peacebuilding, therefore, must address violence within this sphere.

Institutional reform is the prerogative of state actors who currently benefit from the asymmetric relation, however. These actors are not likely to make unilateral
alterations. If the prospect of internal state change is dubious then other options must be found. One option is to disrupt the ideational framework undergirding the systematized violence, i.e. discursive peacebuilding. In short, addressing structural violence necessitates challenging its legitimizing discourse.<sup>5</sup> Discursive peacebuilding as a point of entry is significant because altering the discourse represents an alteration to a perceived truth. At its heart a discursive frame separates "between 'right' and 'wrong' knowledge, between different constructions of reality, between that which is 'sayable' and that which is 'unsayable."<sup>6</sup> Moving forward from this, peacebuilding is "understood as the discursive practice of critique, resistance to, desistance from, and alternative relational formations to violently conflictual relations."<sup>7</sup> Specific to this hydro-structural violent context, peacebuilding is "the pursuit of [a] discourse that specifically, critically and reflexively takes hydro-hegemony and its justificatory narrative to task."8

This section thus aims to examine the extent to which AIES and PWEG stand as bodies resisting or desisting from the validating discourse that sustains the structurally violent institutions currently governing the water sector. The graywater treatment and reuse system will be looked at in particular, as will the larger organizational mechanisms and motivations for change. A slightly more expansive focus is taken so as to understand the overall organizational discourse. This latter point amounts to an examination of how AIES and PWEG conceive of themselves as peacebuilders. Discursive peacebuilding takes place on an ideational level. It therefore has a greater propensity to go unrecognized. Examining both the specific initiative and the organizations as a whole brings to focus potential missed opportunities for discursive peacebuilding.

### Methodology

Given this study's dual and adjoining aims, data is culled from various sources. Interviews with key informants aided in outlining the organizations' self-description concerning their role as peacebuilders. Primary informants were those individuals who worked directly for AIES and PWEG. Conversations with these individuals explored how they understood peacebuilding apropos to the graywater recycling system in particular as well as the mission of their respective organization as a whole.

Further research involved a discourse analysis of the literature in which Arava and PWEG selfdescribe their respective organizations and work. Documents reviewed included mission and



Battir village landscape (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

objective statements, project descriptions, self-directed studies, and program reports. These documents pertained directly to the graywater project and to the respective organizational missions as a whole. All of the documents available on PWEG's website were reviewed. In the case of AIES, electronic publications reviewed were limited to those disseminated by the Center for Transboundary Water Management (CTWM). AIES is an extensive organization with a myriad of programs operating under different internal directives. CTWM is responsible for transboundary programs including, but not limited to, the joint PWEG project and maintains a complimentary yet distinct approach to peace compared to other AIES programs. Thus, restricting the discourse analysis to CTWM still allowed space for a specific graywater initiative analysis and one of a larger operational ethos.

All of these texts were read with an eye towards explicit mentions of peace, peacebuilding, and conflict resolution. A second layer of analysis was pursued wherein the texts were examined for implicit allusions to such topics. Additionally, unrecognized or latent potential for engagement on these fronts was catalogued.

Analysis from this last point informed the body of theory grounding of the study.

Finally, salient theoretical literature was leveraged in order to frame the work of AIES and PWEG with reference to the definition of discursive peacebuilding mentioned above. A large body of peerreviewed theory was consulted during the pre-departure desk study. This corpus was refined in light of field observations and interviews. The resultant theoretical grounding pertains largely to the specific discourse of Israeli hydro-hegemony and more universal information regarding mechanisms of institutionalizing discourse.

# Theoretical Grounding

Ostensibly, the JWC represents a regime.<sup>9</sup> In the theoretical literature regimes are cooperative, supranational bodies that author and acquiesce to a normative policy of behavior for a given domain.<sup>10</sup> Most often these transboundary institutions are formed in response to issues that states cannot address unilaterally due to their transgressive nature, such as nuclear proliferation or pollution.<sup>11</sup> The realist ambitions of states at times occlude communal responses to transboundary concerns. Regimes thus serve as productive mechanisms "for international learning that produce convergent state policies."<sup>12</sup> Given the necessity for superordinate coordination, regimes are ideally created at the behest of epistemic communities. Epistemic communities are affiliations of specialized professionals maintaining a corpus of domain-specific knowledge, i.e. technicians, medical practitioners, scientists, engineers, etc. Simply: non-state actors. These professional bodies coalesce around standardized practices and shared solutions to a singular problem.<sup>13</sup> It is by virtue of their recognized domain-specific knowledge-power that they are able to inform and appropriate the decision-making capacity of states. Having crafted a niche within the sphere of policy construction, the epistemic community defines and then institutionalizes innovatory procedures aimed at mitigating the collective hazard.<sup>14</sup> Institutionalization of new normative behavior requires high-level advocacy and deliberate lobbying measures.<sup>15</sup> If formalized, the ascendant procedures replace a single loop paradigm (whereby new policies are introduced in pursuit of the same end) with double loop (new policies are developed in pursuit of unconventional ends).<sup>16</sup>

The failure to meet the idealized qualities of reciprocal cooperation,

adherence to a common agenda, and double loop procedure renders the JWC an asymmetric regime. A justificatory narrative in which water is a securitized commodity shapes Israel's realist and singularly nationalistic pursuit: national survival is predicated upon access to a sustainable and unpolluted water supply. One of the perceived central threats to water security is the Palestinian other.<sup>17</sup> Inefficient water use and improper wastewater management within the Palestinian Territories menaces the quantity and quality of water available for Israeli consumption. This discursive narrative is, in part, based on a perception of Palestinian inability and/or unwillingness to be conscientious environmental stewards.<sup>18</sup> It is thus necessary for Israel to act as a benevolent power providing technical innovations and a centralized management system to an enfeebled Palestinian Territory.<sup>19</sup> Within this frame, the Israeli government acts akin to a metropole power.<sup>20</sup>

Self-reinforcing, the discourse has proven efficacious. Inadequate wastewater infrastructure is, by and large, the result of the JWC's bureaucratic lethargy and Israel's hermetic control over Palestinian borders. These restrictive interventions are the very measures that claim to be necessary in order to protect the securitized resource. The hegemonic power structure of the JWC ultimately produces the errant behavior it claims to address, namely insufficient (waste)water infrastructure. By reproducing the problem, the institutions of structural violence establish a self-sustaining discourse of utility.<sup>21</sup> Challenging the legitimating discourse, therefore, needs to target the cyclical quality of the structural violencediscourse relationship. This point of critique serves as the theoretical frame within which the analysis of the AIES/PWEG graywater initiative and its potential for discursive change is anchored.

# Literature Analysis and Field Observations

The self-referential literature of both organizations rarely mentions peace or peacebuilding. No PWEG publication surveyed explicitly qualifies their work as such; AIES, likewise, almost completely avoids using the term. In only one instance did AIES reference the process: the graywater system pilot project report noted that transboundary cooperation between Israelis and Palestinians "will encourage peace building."<sup>22</sup> This lacuna in the selfconception of purpose was reiterated during personal interviews.<sup>23</sup> When asked about the

general absence of language referencing *peace*, several respondents indicated that terms like *peace* and *peacbuilding* are often associated with larger political processes taking place within the region – not the dayto-day efforts of those living and working within the region.<sup>24</sup> Rather than emphasizing peacebuilding as a primary objective of their work, both organizations stressed the technical capacity and professional skills they possess as engineers and hydrologists as being utilized to improve the beneficiaries' quality of life.<sup>25</sup> Common in their abstention, AIES and PWEG articulate, and indeed actualize, distinct processes and accompanying rationales. Out of deference for AIES and PWEG's reluctance to label their work as "peacebuilding" this section will use the terminology "discourses of change."

In their literature, AIES conceives of their work as providing an institutionalized, formal space for the cultivation of a collaborative network of individuals dedicated to transboundary water management. AIES operates under the assumption that relationships build partnerships that in turn reduce conflict; this is the core of their discourse of change.<sup>26</sup> Relationship building is designed to be interpersonal in nature and among water professionals and specialists. These then organically evolve into cooperative partnerships around specific, practical wastewater concerns. The final connection between addressing practical transboundary issues and reduced conflict is largely assumed.<sup>27</sup>

Indeed, in practice AIES has established a network of cooperative partnerships – the joint AIES/PWEG graywater project is evidence of this fact. The leap from technical projects to reduced conflict is less clear. There is a distinct possibility that mitigating contamination of the waterscape will attenuate tensions between neighboring Palestinian and Israeli towns. However, the relations-cumpartnerships approach has a greater peacebuilding potential on a discursive



View of Al 'Oja Spring (photo credit: Moses Jackson)

Chapter 5

**Changing Perceptions** 

level. Time in the field revealed a community of transboundary water professionals from a variety of professions, all of whom were familiar with AIES and their work. In meaningful ways this body of professionals represents an un-codified epistemic community. Vis-à-vis transboundary water cooperation, all of the parties who knew of AIES possessed domain-specific knowledge, maintained a shared set of normative beliefs, and advocated for an alteration to the single loop rhythm of the JWC. Theory holds that epistemic communities forge regimes; an Israeli-Palestinian water regime currently exists. Thus what this affiliation represents is more accurately a *counter-hegemonic* epistemic community in-waiting. This cadre is un-codified insofar as they are not organized as an active, coordinated body. Mentioned earlier, theory states that for epistemic community to wrest policy-power from established bodies they need to "exert power on behalf of the values and practices" they hold.<sup>28</sup> Nothing observed in the field or indicated by AIES literature points to highlevel advocacy and collective lobbying as a current organizational goal.

For their part, PWEG focuses their efforts less on cultivating transboundary communities in favor of Palestinian capacity

building. Capacity building is a blanket phrase that denotes enhancing technical and managerial expertise as well as fundraising.<sup>29</sup> Technical capacity building efforts primarily target the municipal level, domestic graywater recycling notwithstanding. Project objectives include developing a plastic recycling program, addressing food security through agricultural development, establishing sanitation advisory teams, and identifying funding sources.<sup>30</sup> Believing Palestinian West Bank communities to be extensively marginalized, the organization aims to act as a conduit for inward flowing information about best environmental practices and techniques as well as outward flowing information detailing the Palestinian water reality. The organization seeks to be a mechanism through which Palestinian West Bank communities can access the resources necessary for creating a self-reproductive society. Accordingly, PWEG's discourse of change is one of Palestinian autonomy and self-resilience. Ultimately, these objectives hope to increase the quality of life of Palestinians.

On the ground observation demonstrated that PWEG had in fact been acting upon its discourse of change: domestic and municipal projects, either fully

implemented or near completion. These projects had resulted in or had the potential to increase personal well-being and environmental quality for select Palestinian West Bank residents. Much like AIES, however, there is a larger potential left ungrasped. This discourse of change represents a direct challenge to the hydrohegemonic justificatory narrative. Sustaining the need for the structurally violent apparatus is the notion of Palestinian water sector incompetence; cultivating water sector autonomy undercuts this assertion. The graywater system – designed, maintained, and up-scaled by Palestinians<sup>31</sup> - bucks the patriarchal discourse of Palestinian inability to be responsible stewards. Our definition of discursive peacebuilding frames desisting from the hegemonic narrative as a defiant act of peace. PWEG's programming is engaging in this very discursive abstention. What needs to also be engaged in is a wider public awareness of their desistance. Discourse is internalized by individuals in society and reproduced through their speech and actions, which in turn sustains the structures of violence. Repudiation of the hegemonic narrative must be visible for this cycle to be broken. By making the fallacy of the discourse more widely known, PWEG will

highlight the JWC as a structurally violent apparatus. The assumption is that the more people who understand the hydro-hegemony as violent, the more bottom-up pressure there will be to rearrange the system in a more peaceable fashion.

### Conclusion

Though neither AIES nor PWEG lay claim to the peace process (lowercase "p"), taking their graywater initiative as emblematic of their larger operations it is clear that they are in fact engaging in peacebuilding measures. The two organizations are participants in a practice that is positioned to affect a change in the discourse of water and cooperation apropos to structurally violent mechanisms. The operative word is "positioned." As currently pursued, AIES and PWEG are not fully realizing their discursive peacebuilding potential. AIES's latent epistemic community needs to amend their current practice of quiet transboundary work. To appropriate the power of policy, epistemic communities must be mobilized in the direction of high-level advocacy. This seems even more acute in the case of a counterhegemonic community. If the end goal is a shift in systemic norms they must interface with the system through direct action,



Community water access point in Battir (photo credit: Courtney Owen)

leveraging their knowledge-power and positing their normative frame. PWEG, too, must become more visible. They maintain a praxis of Palestinian capacity building that undercuts the Israeli state discourse. While their work done in quiet may produce onthe-ground benefits, it will be not erode the mainstream discourse if it does not increase its public profile. This is the necessary realm of engagement. It is advisable for PWEG to broadcast their work more widely to the Israeli citizenry and abroad. AIES and PWEG maintain the fundamental mechanisms to resist and desist; thus the ultimate factor occluding actualizing peacebuilding is not skill but organizational will.

# 5.3 Perceptual Change and the 'Other'

Intractable and protracted conflicts such as the Israeli-Palestinian conflict are defined by the "long-term nature of the conflicting groups' animosity, perception of enmity, and deep-rooted fear."<sup>32</sup> They are driven by "perceptions, emotions, and subjective experiences, which can be wholly independent<sup>33</sup> of the original causes of the conflict. As a result, traditional diplomacy often lacks the capacity to effectively address such conflicts and create sustained peace. It is therefore crucial that peacebuilding activities occur across different domains. The AIES/PWEG initiative does this by operating primarily in the environmental domain, using shared environmental challenges as a means of addressing the broader conflict.

Previous sections of this report discuss relationships in terms of building networks. This section focuses on relationships in terms of perceptions of "the other." Israelis' and Palestinians'

perceptions of one another are a critical factor in assessing the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative. Given the proximity of Israeli and Palestinian populations, their transboundary water resources, their "common histories," and "the dynamic of severe stereotyping coupled with radically differing perceptions of the other,"<sup>34</sup> a positive shift in perceptions of the other is necessary for sustainable peacebuilding to occur. This section analyzes the ability of the AIES/PWEG initiative to create space for such a shift to happen. The objective here is not to determine whether perceptual change is in fact occurring, but rather if, in theory, the conditions for perceptual change to occur are being created.

### Theoretical Framework

Peacebuilding theory emphasizes that creating peace requires interactions and meaningful contact between conflict actors. According to Lederach, "*relationship* is the basis of both the conflict and the long-term solution."<sup>35</sup> Lederach's reconciliation framework stresses the need to "engage the sides of a conflict with each other as humans-in-relationship,"<sup>36</sup> and to use different types of encounters and activities to "find ways to address the past without getting locked into a vicious cycle of mutual exclusiveness inherent in the past." Ideally, by encountering the other, past perceptions are changed for the benefit of a shared future.

Lederach's theory includes a "peace pyramid" in which various types of actors are delineated (see Figure 5.1). The top, narrowest section of the pyramid represents the elite decision-makers who comprise a very small, albeit important, portion of society. The middle section of the pyramid represents mid-level leaders who are not a part of the formalized state authority. These include religious and ethnic leaders, humanitarian leaders, sector leaders, and academic and intellectual leaders. The base of the pyramid represents the grassroots, or societal level. AIES and PWEG can both be categorized as mid-level actors given their specialized knowledge, leadership in the environmental and water sectors, and connections to both the top and bottom levels of the pyramid.

The unique position of mid-level actors in the conflict allows them to serve as a conduit, influencing both policy makers at the top and grassroots actors at the bottom – a dynamic Lederach terms "middle-out."<sup>37</sup> Mid-level actors, "if integrated properly, might provide the key to creating an *infrastructure* for achieving and sustaining peace.<sup>338</sup> Though AIES and PWEG do not claim to engage in peacebuilding, their positions as mid-level actors, along with the transboundary partnerships and relationships they have created, present opportunities for peacebuilding. Lederach's peace pyramid thus serves as a useful framework for identifying the space where perceptual change could occur through the

#### AIES/PWEG initiative.

This study couples Lederach's theory with contact theory. Contact theory argues that positive interpersonal contact between members of different groups reduces prejudice. Reducing prejudice can lead to cooperation and ease conflict. Generalization, or the transferring of feelings, is an important component of contact theory. Thomas Pettigrew outlines



three levels in which generalization can occur. The first is situational, where changes generalize across situations. The second is individual to group, where changes translate to other members of a group. The third is uninvolved outgroups, where outgroups generalize changes to other outgroups not involved in the contact.<sup>39</sup> This study focuses on individual to group level generalization to investigate whether mid-level contact can create a space for perceptual change that can be expanded to reach other levels.

# Field Observations and Discussion

A key respondent expressed that parity is a major obstacle to meeting the region's environmental challenges and ameliorating the broader conflict. The respondent added that Palestinians need more help in terms of creating infrastructure and services, and that "Israeli perceptions must change."<sup>40</sup> According to the respondent, perceptions can be changed by facilitating contact between Israelis and Palestinians. To that end, the respondent leads environmental tours in which Israelis interact with Palestinians and learn about shared environmental challenges. These tours effectively create the space for perceptual changes that can lead to peacebuilding.

The AIES/PWEG initiative, positioned in the middle tier of Lederach's peace pyramid, is structured in a way that facilitates interpersonal interaction only at the technical level. A project leader confirmed that "cooperation and relationships are at the technical level right now."<sup>41</sup> Following contact theory, this means that the initiative creates space for perceptual change of the other to occur only at the technical level. AIES understands that reaching the grassroots level is important but is a much longer process. Interviews with AIES/PWEG project beneficiaries in Al 'Oja illustrate the limited grassroots-level interaction occurring through the project. The head of the beneficiary household had some contact with Israelis through the project, but only with those on the project team. Gordon Allport argues in another version of contact theory that group representatives must share equal status in order for positive inter-group contact to occur.42 While AIES and PWEG project partners may have equal status, project beneficiaries and project team leaders likely do not. As a result, the AIES/PWEG initiative is limited to creating space for

perceptual change only among mid-level technical actors.

In Battir, communication and relationships between AIES and PWEG staff and village municipal actors was strong. Observations of group interactions suggest that all actors respected each other's differing viewpoints. Numerous respondents in Battir and elsewhere agreed that Israeli-Palestinian cooperation is not problematic at the grassroots level. As one Palestinian project leader put it, "civilians have no problem cooperating."43 Issues connected to the broader conflict were seen as problematic on a political level but not on a grassroots level, and grassroots actors were perceived as willing to cooperate in order to address transboundary environmental challenges.

Very little generalization of perceptual change of the other was observed. This draws into question the ability of the AIES/PWEG initiative to create space for perceptual change of the other to occur on a broader scale. One project beneficiary said the AIES/PWEG partnership gave her hope for future peace, suggesting the possibility of generalization.<sup>44</sup> However, her statement may not be representative of Palestinian society given the very limited number of project beneficiaries with whom we spoke. Hewstone and Brown argue that generalization only occurs when group membership is salient and the members who interact are seen as representative of the group.<sup>45</sup> This suggests that the respondent's statement is likely not indicative of broader perceptual change.

A respondent who is a prominent academic indicated that there is little societal interaction occurring around transboundary wastewater management because there is little grassroots work being done in the region in general. If societal mobilization is occurring, space for change in perception of the other can be created. Societal mobilization currently appears to be divided, with Palestinians advocating for Palestinian issues and Israelis mobilizing for their own concerns: there is no transboundary societal push.<sup>46</sup>

# Conclusion and Areas for Further Research

There is evidence that the AIES/PWEG initiative creates space for perceptual change of the other to occur, but it is limited to mid-level actors. Though the aim was not to measure if perceptual change is occurring, there was limited evidence of generalization. One reason for this may be

#### Chapter 5

that like-minded individuals are most likely to engage in intergroup contact, yet are also "the least likely to evoke changes that generalize to their groups."<sup>47</sup> This suggests that more active outreach into other levels of society is necessary to create additional space for perceptual change. The apparent lack of grassroots work being done in the region provides an opportunity for AIES and PWEG to develop much-needed outreach activities and other opportunities for inter-group contact that can create such space. Further outreach efforts will effectively increase AIES and PWEG's collective peacebuilding potential.

# 5.4 Perceptual Change and The Role of the Natural Environment

# Introduction

Whether on Israeli or Palestinian sovereign territory, communities connected to the same transboundary watershed are inextricably bound both ecologically and symbolically. Watershed systems have inherent cultural significance; they are not only physical places but also socially constructed settings instilled with symbolic and historical meaning.<sup>48</sup> The colloquial phrase "sense of place" is increasingly used



Al 'Oja Spring and adjacent canal system (photo credit: Christina Kehoe)

to describe a complex relationship between people and their surrounding natural environments. Sense of place goes far beyond nationalistic conceptualizations of geopolitical boundaries, however.<sup>49</sup> Transboundary environmental cooperation efforts such as the AIES/PWEG initiative have the potential to change perceptions about the natural environment and create a sense of place distinct from territorial boundaries.

While perceptions are discussed earlier in this chapter in terms of discursive

change and the role of "the other," this section examines perceptions of the natural environment – an equally critical factor in environmental peacebuilding.

Understanding how participants perceive their ecological communities is essential in assessing transboundary environmental cooperation, as mutual dependence on shared water resources has the potential to create a shared sense of place that cuts across conventional borders.<sup>50</sup> Accordingly, this section investigates whether the AIES/PWEG initiative supports a perceptual change from a territory-based sense of identity to one based on shared water resources.

#### Theoretical Framework

Environmental peacebuilding theory holds that shared regional identities relate to the way people identify with geographical spaces and communities.<sup>51</sup> Transboundary environmental cooperation has the long-term potential to replace mutually exclusive, territory-based identities with identities conceived by a shared ecological community around water resources.<sup>52</sup> Shared water identities can transcend the nationalistic identities that have been shaped by Westphalian principles over the last century.<sup>53</sup>

Place-based identity implies an emotional and spiritual sentiment that influences how people perceive, experience, and value the natural environment.<sup>54</sup> As J.B. Jackson maintains, "It is a place, permanent position in both the social and topographical sense, that gives us our identity."<sup>55</sup> Sense of place is fundamental not only to individual identity but also to community dynamics: "individuals may come to see commonalities in their experience. They may come to consider themselves members of a community and view themselves in collective terms."56 Therefore, developing a common place-based group identity around water resources can provide a basis for Israelis and Palestinians to act collectively despite political boundaries.

Proponents of environmental peacebuilding believe that its focus on collective understanding and problem solving has the potential to bring conflict actors toward a shared common identity, thereby altering conflictual communication and interests.<sup>57</sup> Wastewater is a useful mechanism for environmental cooperation because "focusing on common environmental harms (or aversions) is psychologically more successful at producing cooperative outcomes than focusing on common interests."<sup>58</sup> Anecdotal

evidence supports this claim. For example, when speaking about wastewater cooperation, an official from the Palestinian Water Authority expressed that "We [Palestinians] must take what is national from the mind, as water has no flag. We are obliged to find ways to cooperate with the other side."<sup>59</sup> Respondents from the Israeli Nature and Parks Department expressed similar views, noting that wastewater cooperation is necessary given that "pipes cross borders, same as pollution."<sup>60</sup>

In successful environmental cooperation, the development of shared values, norms, and practices facilitates the establishment of a regional identity.<sup>61</sup> Transboundary environmental cooperation can begin building shared water identities by creating awareness of the transboundary nature of water and of commonality between communities. According to Alcali and Antonsich, this environmental perspective is "seen to generate a 'we' feeling inclusive of the whole population, beyond ethnic or religious divides, thus confirming the discursive strategy of using the environment to foster a common identity."<sup>62</sup>

#### **Territory-Based Identities**

Both Israeli and Palestinian communities have historically self-identified

with geopolitical and territory-based boundaries: "[t]he idea that Palestine and Israel refer to a bounded territory with homogenous people emerged in the nineteenth century and contiues to shape the conflict into the twenty-first century."<sup>63</sup> Accordingly, "territory remains a central component of national identity in the contemporary political discourse between Israelis and Palestinians, both populations opposing power sharing within the same space."<sup>64</sup> Rupert Emerson emphasizes that this politically defined self-conception is a reflection of current societal norms of national allegiance.<sup>65</sup>

The Israeli-Palestinian conflict has manifested in territory-defined boundaries that drastically affect those living in the region: "[a]t the heart of the current Palestinian-Israeli struggle lies the question of territorial parition and the establishment of soveignty."66 The Green Line, security checkpoints, separate Israeli and Palestinian identification cards, and the delineation between Palestinian Areas A, B and C, all serve as everyday reminders of Israeli occupation, effectively reinforcing dominant territory-based identities. The Israeliimposed barrier separating Israelis from Palestinians – which many consider to be illegal under international law – is

constantly changing and growing.<sup>67</sup> It currently spans over 1000 km, cutting across Palestinian West Bank communities and exacerbating conflictual relations between Israelis and Palestinians.<sup>68</sup> According to a 2012 UN survey, "field teams documented and mapped 542 obstacles blocking Palestinian movement within the West Bank. These include 61 permanently staffed checkpoints (excluding checkpoints on the Green Line), 25 partial checkpoints (staffed on an ad-hoc basis) and 436 unstaffed physical obstacles, including roadblocks, earthmounds, earth walls, road gates, road barriers, and trenches."<sup>69</sup>

Transformation in favour of a shared water community is also hindered by Israelis' and Palestinians' historic relations and fundamentally different perceptions of water. Water has a symbolic role in Zionism and is central to the creation of the Jewish state of Israel. Zionism explicitly calls for pioneers to "settle the land" and "make the desert bloom," meaning that the success of the Zionist movement depends on water resources.<sup>70</sup>A sufficient water supply "thus became a value in and of itself, a symbolic practice and a vital condition for Jewish-Israeli identity."<sup>71</sup> Due to deep-rooted Zionist ideology and the region's arid

climate, many Israelis perceive natural water scarcity as an existential threat.<sup>72</sup>

Many Palestinian respondents directly linked water scarcity, and associated contamination in the Palestinian West Bank, to Israeli dominance. To some, this dominance is reflected in lower standards of living and a lack of human dignity. One Palestinian relayed a personal anecdote in which his daughter responded to the Zionist "make the desert bloom" imperative by saying, "You can make the desert bloom green, but you will make my skin dry."<sup>73</sup>

The Palestinian narrative perceives certain key water resources as "rightfully Palestinian"<sup>74</sup> and blames the Israeli occupation for water scarcity in the Palestinian West Bank. "Palestinians regard the natural water resources as sufficient in principle and the existing scarcity as entirely politically induced."75 A Palestinian respondent invoked the concept of "environmental occupation" when referring to Israel's dominant presence and control over natural resources in the Palestinian West Bank.<sup>76</sup> From both Israeli and Palestinian points of view, the control of water resources is a zero-sum game: "giving up control over water is perceived as real water loss; at the same time, a lack of control equals... an existential threat."77

# Field Observations

It became evident through field research in the Palestinian West Bank that the symbolism of water resources has been central in the historical narrative that reinforces community identity in both Al 'Oja and Battir. A respondent who is a prominent archaeologist noted that environmental heritage is synonymous with cultural heritage and is linked to identity creation.<sup>78</sup> Al 'Oja's community identity is tied to Al 'Oja Spring, which originates west of the village as part of Samia Springs.<sup>79</sup> The community relies heavily on the spring for household and agricultural water and has constructed a canal system to optimize its use. The spring is well known throughout the Palestinian West Bank and evokes a strong sense of place for area residents. AIES/PWEG project beneficiaries in Al 'Oja recognize that Al 'Oja Spring is on the verge of environmental collapse due to water shortages, over-pumping of nearby artesian wells, and contamination. The issue is an urgent concern for the entire community.

The second proposed site for the AIES/PWEG pilot project, Battir, also has a deep historical and cultural connection to water. Battir residents have relied on an extensive Roman-era water network of man-



Roman-era agricultural terraces in Battir (photo credit: Christina Kehoe)

Chapter 5

**Changing Perceptions** 

made terraces and sluice gates for millennia.<sup>80</sup> Battir also has a unique water allocation system in which each of the village's eight main families is assigned a particular day to withdraw water for irrigation. As a result, a local saying in Battir is that "a week lasts eight days, not seven."<sup>81</sup> Battir's distinctive water system is a source of pride for community members and has generated international recognition as part of the village's cultural heritage. In 2011, UNESCO awarded Battir a \$15,000 prize for "Safeguarding and Management of Cultural Landscapes."<sup>82</sup>

Despite this recognition, Battir's water system suffers from severe water shortages and contamination that jeopardize community health and livelihoods. A municipal official in Battir expressed that without improvements in wastewater infrastructure, the environment would be destroyed and the community would cease to exist due to migration.<sup>83</sup>

### Findings

AIES and PWEG's transboundary environmental cooperation has built upon the water symbolism in Al 'Oja, and Battir, by creating greater awareness of the villages' respective ecological communities. The AIES/PWEG initiative illustrates how onsite graywater recycling can improve the natural environment by fostering a greater appreciation of water's transboundary nature. Project beneficiaries learned through the initiative how reducing pressure on water demand at the household level can minimize negative impacts on the broader transboundary environment. Participants recognized that "issues that impact Israel impact Palestine, and vice versa."<sup>84</sup>

Al 'Oja and Battir's deep historical and symbolic connections to water make them ideal sites for transboundary environmental cooperation. Yet despite the significant achievements of the AIES/PWEG initiative, it has so far been unsuccessful in transforming residents' sense of place and creating a shared regional water identity that connects Israelis and Palestinians. Evidence indicates that project participants have not (yet) moved away from territory-based identities. Though connected physically by a transboundary watershed, water is still largely perceived as belonging to either Israel or Palestine.

The geopolitical implications of separate Israeli and Palestinian identities were central to many discussions in the field. Most respondents, including the son of a project participant, repeatedly referred to ostensibly shared water resources as being

either Israeli or Palestinian.<sup>85</sup> There are many challenges involved in shaping conceptualizations of transboundary environments. Unfortunately, the territorybased identities of Israelis and Palestinians are composed of interrelated political, economic, and social dimensions that are not easily addressed. Current identities may in fact take decades to transform.

The expansion of Israeli settlements presents a critical challenge in creating a regional identity. The majority of Palestinian respondents were adamantly opposed to any Palestinian involvement in transboundary environmental cooperation related to Area B Israeli settlements. Many respondents expressed that accommodation of Area B settlers is a threat to the Palestinian state and were unwilling to discuss inclusion of Israeli settlements in any way – particularly in terms of water resources. Water thus "functions as one medium amongst many others which are being utilized to communicate Palestinian overall rejection of Israeli dominance."86

For Palestinians, openly condoning a shared water community that includes Israeli settlements may be interpreted as legitimizing the settlements' existence and, by extension, encouraging future Israeli expansion into the Palestinian West Bank. Yet regardless of the real or perceived legality of Area B settlements, transboundary water resources connect all communities in the region. From an environmental standpoint, settlements must be taken into account.

#### Conclusion

This section's objective was to determine whether the AIES/PWEG initiative supports a perceptual change from a territory-based sense of identity to one based on a shared community around water resources. Though such a shared identity has not yet been realized, the AIES/PWEG initiative represents an important and necessary effort toward that end. Perceptions of placed-based identity have not changed, but there is evidence of a shared understanding of the interconnectivity of the transboundary environment. AIES and PWEG project staff recognize that mutual dependence on natural resources requires transboundary cooperation.87 More importantly, project participants are aware of the impacts of wastewater on the broader hydrological system and appreciate that the improvement of the transboundary environment provides benefits to both Israelis and Palestinians.

Analysis shows that major obstacles must be overcome in order to change peoples' perceptions of their natural environment, and that the AIES/PWEG initiative is not currently suited for such a task. AIES and PWEG were wise to select Al 'Oja and Battir as pilot sites, however, as both communities have strong historical connections with water.

AIES and PWEG can further encourage a shared identity around water by conducting educational outreach and public awareness campaigns in both Israel and the Palestinian West Bank. Such campaigns should promote the ecological and symbolic importance of water and explicitly emphasize the need to move away from territory-based perceptions of the natural environment.

#### Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Johan Galtung, "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research," *Journal of Peace Research* 6, no. 3(1969): 171.

<sup>2</sup> Johan Galtung, "Cultural Violence," Journal of Peace Research 27, no. 4(1990): 291-305.

<sup>3</sup> World Bank, West Bank and Gaza: Assessment of Restriction on Palestinian Water Sector Development (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2009). <sup>4</sup> Galtung, "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research," 170.

<sup>5</sup> Galtung speaks of structural violence as deriving "nutrients" from culturally violent practices: "The culture preaches, teaches, admonishes, eggs on, and dulls us into seeing exploitation and/or repression as normal and natural, or into not seeing them (particularly not exploitation) at all." The Foucaultian definition of discourse as a product of constructed truth is a more totalitarian, nuanced conception than cultural violence. Yet still, the sustaining relationship between cultural and structural violence is also found between discourse and structural violence. Johan Galtung, "Cultural Violence," 291-305.

<sup>6</sup> Christiane J Fröhlich, "Security and Discourse: the Israeli–Palestinian Water Conflict," *Conflict, Security & Development* 12, no. 2(2012): 123-148.

<sup>7</sup> Eric Abitbol, "Hydropolitical Peacebuilding: Israeli-Palestinian Water Relations and Transformation of Asymmetric Conflict in the Middle East" (PhD diss., University of Bradford, 2012), 4.

<sup>8</sup> Ibid.

<sup>9</sup> Mark Zeitoun, "The Conflict vs. Cooperation Paradox: Fighting Over or Sharing of Palestinian-Israeli Groundwater?," *Water International* 32, no. 1(2007): 112-114.

<sup>10</sup> Anders Jägerskog, "Water Regimes - A Way to Institutionalise Water Co-operation in Shared River Basins," in *From Conflict to Co-operation in International Water*  *Resources Management: Challenges and Opportunities*, ed. Saskia Castelein (Paper presented at the International Conference for the UNESCO-IHE Institute for Water Education, Delft, The Netherlands, November 2002), 210-211.

<sup>11</sup> Emanuel Adler and Peter M. Haas,
"Conclusion: Epistemic Communities,
World Order, and the Creation of a
Reflective Research Program," *International Organization* 46, no. 1(1992): 375.

<sup>12</sup> Peter M. Haas, "Do Regimes Matter? Epistemic Communities and Mediterranean Pollution Control." *International Organization* 43, no. 3(1989): 377.

<sup>13</sup> Andreas Antoniades, "Epistemic Communities, Epistemes and the Construction of (World) Politics," *Global Society* 17, no. 1(2003): 23-25; Peter M. Haas, "Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International Policy Coordination," *International Organization* 46, no. 1(1992): 3-4.

<sup>14</sup> Jägerskog, "Water Regimes," 210-211.

<sup>15</sup> Adler and Hass, "Conclusion," 371-372.

<sup>16</sup> Haas, "Do Regimes Matter," 397.

<sup>17</sup> Martin Sherman, "The Hydro-Political Implications of the Oslo Agreements: An Israeli Perspective," in *Israel and a Palestinian State: Zero Sum Game?*, ed. Arieh Stav (Shaarei Tikva: Zmora-Bitan Publishers and Ariel Center for Policy Research Publishers, 2001), 187-191; Fröhlich, "Security and Discourse," 129-135.

<sup>18</sup> Abitbol, "Hydropolitical Peacebuilding,"31-33; Interview with Informant 43, July 3, 2013.

<sup>19</sup> Abitbol, "Hydropolitical Peacebuilding," 214-215.

<sup>20</sup> Heriberto Cairo, "The Duty of the Benevolent Master: From Sovereignty to Suzerainty and the Biopolitics of Intervention," *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political* 31, no. 3(2006): 305.

<sup>21</sup> Foucault noted the reproduction of delinquency by institutional forces in his description of the prison system; Michel Foucault, "Prison Talk," in *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings, 1972-1977*, ed. Colin Gordon (New York: Pantheon, 1980), 40-46.

<sup>22</sup> Center for Transboundary Water Management at Arava Institute for Environmental Studies and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, Decentralized Wastewater Treatment and Reuse: A Transboundary Approach to Environmental, Social and Technical Issues of Wastewater Infrastructure Development – A Pilot Project in Al 'Oja Village, Palestine (2012), 4.

<sup>23</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 4, June
25, 2013; Interview with Informant 15, June
27, 2013; Interview with Informant 40, July
2, 2013.

<sup>24</sup> Interviews with Informants 1-3, June 25, 2013; Interview with Informant 15, June 27, 2013.

<sup>25</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>26</sup> Arava and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, *Decentralized Wastewater*, 3; Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013; Interview with Informant 40, July 2, 2013.

<sup>27</sup> Ibid.

<sup>28</sup> Adler and Hass, "Conclusion," 371-372.

<sup>29</sup> "Mission," *Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group*, accessed July 20, 2013, http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/.

<sup>30</sup> "Enhancement of Food Security in Taybeh and Ramoun through Rural Development and Agricultural Extension," Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, accessed July 21, 2013, http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/project s/57-enhancement-of-food-security-intaybeh-and-ramoun-through-ruraldevelopment-and-agricultural-extension#; "Strengthen Financial Capacities of Bethlehem JSCSWM," Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, accessed July 21, 2013, http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/project s/36-strengthen-financial-capacities-ofbethlehem-jscswm; "Support to Higher Joint Service Council Through the Strengthening of Management Capacity and Develop of Plastic Recycle System," Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, accessed July 21, 2013,

http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/project s/64-support-to-higher-joint-service-councilthrough-the-strengthening-of-managementcapacity-and-develop-of-plastic-recyclesystem-heb-sw-047-10; "Technical, Planning, and Advisory Team in the Water and Sanitation Sector," Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, accessed July 21, 2013,

http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/project s/67-technichal-planning-and-advisoryteam-in-the-water-and-sanitation-sector.

<sup>31</sup> Interviews with Informants 6 and 7, June 25, 2013.

<sup>32</sup> John Paul Lederach, *Building Peace:* Sustainable Reconciliation in Divided Societies (Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace, 1997), 14.

<sup>33</sup> Ibid., 14-15.

<sup>34</sup> Ibid., 13.

<sup>35</sup> Ibid., 26.

<sup>36</sup> Ibid.

<sup>37</sup> Ibid., 46.

<sup>38</sup> Ibid., 60.

<sup>39</sup> Thomas Pettigrew, "Intergroup Contact Theory," *Annual Review of Psychology* 49(1998): 65-85.

<sup>40</sup> Interview with Informant 23, June 28, 2013.

<sup>41</sup> Interview with Informant 1, June 25, 2013.

<sup>42</sup> Gordon W. Allport, *The Nature of Prejudice* (Reading: Addison-Wesley, 1954), 537.

<sup>43</sup> Interview with Informant 3, June 25, 2013.

<sup>44</sup> Interview with Informant 8, June 25, 2013.

<sup>45</sup> Miles Hewstone and Rupert Brown,
"Contact is Not Enough: An Intergroup Perspective on the 'Contact Hypothesis'," in *Contact and Conflict in Intergroup Encounters*, ed. Miles Hewstone & Rupert Brown (Cambridge: Basil Blackwell, Inc., 1986), 1-44.

<sup>46</sup> Interview with Informant 38, June 30, 2013.

<sup>47</sup> Pettigrew, "Intergroup Contact Theory,"74.

<sup>48</sup> Thomas Greider and Lorraine Garkovich, "Landscapes: The Social Construction of Nature and the Environment," *Rural Sociology* 59, no. 1(1994): 1-24.

<sup>49</sup> Anthony S. Cheng, Linda E. Kruger, and Steven E. Daniels, "'Place' as an Integrating Concept in Natural Resource Politics: Propositions for a Social Science Research Agenda," *Society & Natural Resources* 16, no. 2(2003): 87-104.

<sup>50</sup> Nicole Harari and Jesse Roseman, *Environmental Theory and Practice: A Case*  Study of the Good Water Neighbours Project and In Depth Analysis of the Wadi Fukin / Tzur Hadassah Communities (Amman, Bethlehem, and Tel Aviv: Friends of the Earth Middle East, 2008), 9.

<sup>51</sup> Alexander Carius, "Environmental Peacebuilding - Environmental Cooperation as an Instrument for Crisis Prevention and Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success and Constraints," *Adelphi Report* 3(2006): 65.

<sup>52</sup> Ibid.

<sup>53</sup> Andreas Osiander, "Sovereignty, International Relations, and the Westphalian Myth," *International Organization* 55, no. 2(2001): 251-287.

<sup>54</sup> Cheng, Kruger, and Daniels, "'Place' as an Integrating Concept", 87-104.

<sup>55</sup> John Brinckerhoff Jackson, *Discovering the Vernacular Landscape* (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1984), 152.

<sup>56</sup> Byron Miller, "Collective Action and Rational Choice: Place, Community, and the Limits to Individual Self-Interest," *Economic Geography* 68, no. 1(1992): 32.

<sup>57</sup> Susan D. Clayton and Susan Opotow, eds., *Identity and the Natural Environment: The Psychological Significance of Nature* (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2003).

<sup>58</sup> Saleem H. Ali, "Conservation and Conflict Resolution: Crossing the Policy Frontier." *Environmental Change and Security Program Report* 11(2005): 2. <sup>59</sup> Interview with Informant 21, June 27, 2013.

<sup>60</sup> Interview with Informant 43, July 3, 2013.

<sup>61</sup> Harari and Roseman, *Environmental Peacebuilding Theory and Practice*, 12.

<sup>62</sup> Emel Akçalı and Marco Antonsich, "'Nature Knows No Boundaries': A Critical Reading of UNDP Environmental Peacemaking in Cyprus." *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 99, no. 5(2009): 944.

<sup>63</sup> Avram S. Bornstein, *Crossing the Green Line Between the West Bank and Israel* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2002), 26.

<sup>64</sup> David Newman, "From National to Post-National Territorial Identities in Israel-Palestine." *GeoJournal* 53, no. 3(2001):
235.

<sup>65</sup> Rupert Emerson, *From Empire to Nation: The Rise to Self-Assertions of Asian and African Peoples* (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1960), 95-96.

<sup>66</sup> Avram S. Bornstein, *Crossing the Green Line Between the West Bank and Israel* (Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2002), 176.

<sup>67</sup> "Settlements 101," *Americans for Peace Now*, accessed Spetember 11, 2013, http://peacenow.org/settlements-101.html.

<sup>68</sup> Ibid.

<sup>69</sup> United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs Occupied Palestinian Territory, *West Bank Movement and Access Update, Special Focus* (East Jerusalem, 2012), 33.

<sup>70</sup> Christiane J. Fröhlich, "Security and Discourse: The Israeli–Palestinian Water Conflict." *Conflict, Security & Development* 12, no. 2(2012): 130.

<sup>71</sup> Ibid., 120.

<sup>72</sup> Ibid., 129.

<sup>73</sup> Interview with Informant 21, June 27, 2013.

<sup>74</sup> Christiane J. Fröhlich, "Transforming Environmental Conflict through Discourse, Illustrated by the Israeli-Palestinian Water Conflict," (Proceedings of the Berlin Conference on the Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change, Berlin, October 8, 2010), 7.

<sup>75</sup> Ibid., 1.

<sup>76</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>77</sup> Fröhlich, "Transforming Environmental Conflict," 4.

<sup>78</sup> Interview with Informant 24, June 28, 2013.

<sup>79</sup> Arava and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group, *Decentralized Wastewater*, 3. <sup>80</sup> "West Bank Barrier Threatens Villagers' Way of Life," *BBC News Magazine*, October 5, 2012, http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-18012895.

<sup>81</sup> Interview with Informant 9, June 26, 2013.

<sup>82</sup> United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization-Greece Melina Mercouri International Prize for the Safeguarding and Management of Cultural Landscapes, *Application Evaluation 2010 -Executive Summary, Battir Cultural Landscape (Occupied Territory)*, accessed November 3, 2013, http://www.unesco.org/culture/melina/palest ine-IFLA/PALESTINIAN.pdf.

<sup>83</sup> Interview with Informant 10, June 26, 2013.

<sup>84</sup> Interview with Informant 11, June 26, 2013.

<sup>85</sup> Interview with Informant 7, June 25, 2013.

<sup>86</sup> Fröhlich, "Transforming Environmental Conflict," 7.

<sup>87</sup> Interviews with Informants 1 and 3, June 25, 2013.



# **Chapter 6** Conclusion

### 6.1 Summary of Findings

We now return to this study's guiding question: what is the peacebuilding significance of the joint AIES/PWEG initiative? Our research reveals that the initiative is building peace on a small scale, laying the groundwork for future peacebuilding, and creating opportunities for peacebuilding to continue. The initiative creates valuable opportunities to promote equity, sustained relationships, and changed perceptions, but it is not exploiting these opportunities to the fullest extent. It fosters cooperation in limited ways, but more can be done. Major findings are summarized below.

Peace is not being openly discussed, nor is it an explicit goal. Israeli-Palestinian cooperation is not being overtly promoted among project beneficiaries. While this has both positive and negative implications, it translates to a lack of communication with a wider audience, meaning that shared conceptualizations of peace are not being encouraged within project communities. At the organizational level, however, the AIES/PWEG partnership serves as an important model for how Israeli-Palestinian cooperation can occur. AIES leverages the cooperative aspects of its partnership with PWEG to access donor funds. Emphasizing cooperation brings politics to the fore despite project partners' professed political avoidance. Project discourse around peace, AIES' secondary objective, must be carefully managed lest it interfere with development, the AIES/PWEG partnership's primary objective.

AIES and PWEG challenge the narrative that has traditionally justified Israeli hydro-hegemony, demonstrating that Palestinian actors can manage transboundary water resources effectively and sustainably. This reduces conflictual asymmetry and has significant, positive impacts on Israeli-Palestinian power structures.

The AIES/PWEG initiative has no clear gender strategy, representing missed opportunities in terms of community buy-in and long-term financial sustainability. Women play key roles as both project partners and project beneficiaries. More should be done to include women in project decision-making processes and in wider conversations about transboundary water management.

The initiative does not necessarily address Palestinian development priorities. Palestinians are primarily concerned with

Conclusion

dignity, autonomy, and economic wellbeing. While the initiative's long-term environmental impacts may be significant if it is successfully scaled up, its economic benefits do not reach the Palestinians with the greatest needs. AIES and PWEG should focus more on reducing poverty and economic inequality.

AIES and PWEG's partnership creates space for positive perceptual changes to occur, but only among mid-level technical actors. The grassroots level is not being reached due to physical and political barriers that hinder community mobilization. The policymaking level is not being reached due to political avoidance on the part of project partners and a lack of appreciation for transboundary environmental concerns on the part of politicians.

Existing relational connections are being strengthened, but no new connections are being established. A lack of public awareness about the initiative makes it difficult to identify new project participants and partners. Coordinated outreach efforts can address this issue. Coordinated outreach may also help to build a shared community water identity, as sense of place remains tied to territory-based identities.

All told, AIES and PWEG's environmental peacebuilding efforts

represent an innovative and valuable contribution to the Israeli-Palestinian peace process. At the same time, their efforts constitute a successful development intervention with the potential to substantially reduce transboundary environmental degradation. The initiative's merits are clear and its accomplishments should be lauded. Grand plans too often bring expectations that exceed practical realities, and the most humble efforts often have the greatest impact. AIES and PWEG harbor no unrealistic hopes that their partnership will bring immediate, absolute peace to the Middle East. They are dedicated professionals with practical skills that they use to achieve tangible goals on a day-today basis. As one Palestinian respondent put it, AIES and PWEG are "building peace slowly, working to place stone upon stone it cannot be rushed."<sup>1</sup> Ultimately, a home is only as valuable as the stones from which it is built. AIES and PWEG are building a peaceful, ecologically healthy environment that Israelis and Palestinians can both call home for generations to come, regardless of its official political designation. The value in this effort cannot be denied.

<sup>1</sup> Interview with Informant 6, June 25, 2013.



# Appendices

# Appendix A: Research Methodology

The practicum conducted research for this report in three phases: pre-departure desk study, field research, and post-field data analysis and report writing.

# Pre-departure Desk Study

A three-week pre-departure desk study in June 2013 consisted of individual literature reviews, research design and planning activities, group workshops, and lectures. Drawing on information gathered through these activities, the group integrated team members' individual research objectives into a collective analytical framework with one overarching research question. This preliminary analytical framework was adapted over the course of research. The final version is included in Appendix D. Individual research questions are included in Appendix C.

#### **Literature Reviews**

Students compiled preliminary bibliographies and reviewed secondary literature related to their respective research interests. A full bibliography is included in Appendix D. Topics included the following:

- Current and historical context of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict
- Hydro-politics in the Middle East
- Environmental peacebuilding
- Wastewater management development and infrastructure
- Graywater treatment and reuse
- Development theory
- Transboundary water cooperation
- Water security

#### **Group Workshops and Lectures**

Topics included:

- Environmental Peacebuilding Theory (Prof. Eric Abitbol)
- Water and the Israeli-Palestinian Conflict (Prof. Eric Abitbol)
- Research: Theory and Methodology (Prof. Eric Abitbol)
- Peace and Conflict Impact Assessment (Prof. Eric Abitbol)
- Water, Integrated Water Resources Management, and Wastewater (Prof. Ken Conca)
- Research Techniques: Rapid Appraisal (Prof. Ken Conca)
- Research techniques: Interviewing/Focus Groups/Conversation (Prof. Ken Conca)
- Environmental Peacebuilding (Prof. Ken Conca)

Appendices

#### Field Research

Field research consisted of a 10-day rapid appraisal that took place between June 24 and July 4, 2013. Formal and informal interviews were conducted in eight different sites in the Palestinian West Bank and four sites in Israel. Interviews were arranged by Prof. Eric Abitbol and by staff at both AIES and PWEG. A total of forty-nine respondents were interviewed. A complete list of interviews is included in Appendix B. Names are omitted to protect the identities of respondents. Interviews were not recorded in order to create an environment in which respondents felt comfortable speaking freely. Research questions were designed based on students' individual analyses of the collective research objective. Further information on specific interview questions can be found in Appendix C. Respondents also provided supplementary data including reports, websites, and brochures, which further informed the group's analysis.

All interview questions were asked in English and translated into Arabic or Hebrew by non-professional translators, as necessary and depending on the language of the interviewee. All non-english responses were then translated into English. Quotes included in this report may have been translated from their original language.

# Analysis, Presentation, and Report Writing

Upon returning to the United States, the research team spent three intensive weeks analyzing findings, developing and giving a presentation, and writing this final report. Findings were analyzed using an adapted analytical framework. Analysis was conducted both individually and collectively, drawing on field data, preliminary literature reviews, and secondary literature collected throughout the course of the research process. The presentation was designed to summarize major findings. It was developed between July 7, 2013 and July 13, 2013 and was presented at the American University School of International Service to the American University community and guests on July 14, 2013. This final report was designed, developed, and written collaboratively, with each student's individual research area presented as a separate subsection of the report. It was written over the course of two weeks between July 14, 2013 and July 28, 2013, with final edits conducted later.

# **Appendix B:** Research Initiatives

Interview information is provided below. A coding system is used to protect the identities of research informants. The table lists informants' affiliations, number, interview location, and interview date. Interviews lasted between one and three hours.

Organization	Informant #	Location	Date
Arava Institute for Environmental Studies (AIES)	1, 2	Kenyon Institute, Jerusalem	25 – June 2013
Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group (PWEG)	3, 4, 5	Al 'Oja, Palestinian West Bank	25 – June 2013
Al'Oja Project Participants	6, 7, 8	Al 'Oja, Palestinian West Bank	25- June 2013
Battir Landscape EcoMuseum	9	Battir, Palestinian West Bank	26 – June 2013
Battir Council	10, 11, 12, 13, 14	Battir, Palestinian West Bank	26 – June 2013
Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group (PWEG)	15, 16, 17, 18	Teybeh, Palestinian West Bank	27 – June 2013
Palestinian Water Authority (PWA)	19, 20 , 21, 22	Ramallah, Palestinian West Bank	27 – June 2013
Kidron, GPN, EWB, API	23, 24, 25, 26	Kidron Valley	28 – June 2013
Municipality of Al Ubiedyeh	27, 28	Al-Ubiedyeh, Palestinian West Bank	28 – June 2013

Organization	Informant #	Location	Date
Al-Afaq School	29, 49	Febal Mukaber, Palestinian West Bank	28 – June 2013
Friends of the Earth Middle East (FoEME), Tel Aviv Headquarters	30, 31	Tel Aviv, Israel	29 – June 2013
Israel Palestine Center for Research and Information (IPCRI)	38	Kenyon Institute, Jerusalem	30 – June 2013
FoEME EcoCenter	32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37	Al 'Oja EcoCenter, Palesininan West Bank	30 – June 2013
Center for Transboundary Water Management, Arava	40	Kenyon Institute, Jerusalem	2 – July 2013
USAID	41	Al 'Oja, Palestinian West Bank	2 – July 2013
Israel Nature and National Parks Protection Authority, Environmental Unit, Science Division	43, 44, 45, 46	Israel/Palestinian West Bank Wastewater Treatment Tour	3 – July 2013
Soreq Wastewater Treatment Plant	47	Soreq, Israel	3 – July 2013
Bethlehem Joint Service Council for Solid Waste Management	48	Bethlehem, Palestinian West Bank	4 – July 2013

# **Appendix C:** Research and Interview Questions

The research team began with one collective research objective determined by academic advisors at the outset: assessing the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative. Each student then designed individual theoretical frameworks and methodologies to investigate different aspects of the overarching research objective. Each student began with a specific research question from which they derived interview questions. Interview questions were subsequently tailored for field interviews.

# Team Research Objective

What is the peacebuilding significance of the small-scale transboundary graywater reuse projects implemented through a partnership between the Arava Institute for Environmental Studies (AIES) and the Palestinian Wastewater Engineering Group (PWEG)?

# Individual Contributions to Team Research Objective

Dimension One:	AIES/PWEG initiatives' environmental significance as a development project		
	• What are the major infrastructural factors involved in wastewater development in the Palestinian West Bank and how do they affect or reflect the peacebuilding significance of the AIES/PWEG initiative? <i>Reference Section 2.2</i>		
Dimension Two:	Peacebuilding significance within the broader Israeli-Palestinian conflict		
	• What impacts do AIES/PWEG graywater projects have on the economic livelihoods of project participants? <i>Reference Section 3.2</i>		
	• What is the peacebuilding significance of the benefits and detrimental effects (intended and unintended) from AIES/PWEG cooperation in transboundary wastewater management? <i>Reference Section 3.3</i>		
	• What are the gender dynamics of the AIES/PWEG initiative? Does the initiative incorporate a gender strategy? What are the costs and benefits of the projects for women and men? How can this knowledge aid in achieving project goals? <i>Reference Section 3.4</i>		

- What is the peacebuilding significance of the relationships cultivated through the AIES/PWEG initiative? *Reference Section 4.2*
- What is the discursive peacebuilding potential of the AIES/PWEG graywater project specifically and of the organizations' discourse of change overall? *Reference Section 5.2*
- Does the AIES/PWEG project create space for perceptual change of the other to happen? *Reference Section 5.3*
- Does the AIES/PWEG environmental cooperation project support a perceptual change from a territory-based sense of identity to one of shared community around water resources? *Reference Section 5.4*

# Appendix D: Desk Study Reference List

Abitbol, Eric. "Developing Water and Marginalising Israel/Palestinian Peace: A Critical Examination of the Red Sea-Dead Sea Canal Feasibility Study Process." *Journal of Peacebuilding and Development* 5, no. 1(2009): 35-49.

Abitbol, Eric. "Giving the Dead Sea a New Life: Have All Options Been Responsibly Considered?" *Journal of Peacebuilding and Development* 3, no. 1(2006): 94-99.

Abitbol, Eric. "Hydropolitical Peacebuilding: Israeli-Palestinian Water Relations and Transformation of Asymmetric Conflict in the Middle East." PhD diss., University of Bradford, 2012.

Abitbol, Eric, and Stuart Schoenfeld. "Constructing an Adaptive Regional Vision of Water Development in the Jordan River Basin." In *The Jordan River and Dead Sea Basin: Cooperation Amid Conflict*, edited by Clive Lipchin, Deborah Sandler, and Emily Cushman, 297-316. Dordrecht: Springer, 2009.

Abu-Nimer, Mohammed. "Education for Coexistence and Arab-Jewish Encounters in Israel: Potential and Challenges." *Journal of Social Issues* 60, no. 2(2004): 405-422.

Adler, Emanuel, and Peter M. Haas. "Conclusion: Epistemic Communities, World Order, and the Creation of a Reflective Research Program." *International Organization* 46, no. 1(1992): 367-390.

Akamani, Kofi, and Patrick Impero Wilson. "Toward the Adaptive Governance of Transboundary Water Resources." *Conservation Letters* 4(2011): 409-416.

Allan, John Anthony. *Water Security in the Middle East: The Hydro-Politics of Global Solutions*. London: SOAS/King's College London Water Research Group, 2002.

Alleson, Ilan, and Stuart Schoenfeld. "Environmental Justice and Peacebuilding in the Middle East." *Peace Review: A Journal of Social Justice* 19, no. 3(2007): 371-379.

Al-Mashaqbeh, O. A., Ghrair, A. M., and Megdal, S. B. "Grey Water Reuse for Agricultural Purposes in the Jordan Valley: Household Survey Results in Deir Alla." *Water* 4, no. 3(2012): 580-596.

Almasri, Mohammad N., and Laurie S. McNeill. "Optimal Planning of Wastewater Reuse Using the Suitability Approach: A Conceptual Framework for the West Bank, Palestine." *Desalination* 248, nos. 1–3(2009): 428-35.

Al-Saed, Rashed. "A Policy Framework for Transboundary Wastewater Issues Along the Green Line, the Israeli-Palestinian Border." *International Journal of Environmental Studies* 67, no. 6(2010): 937-954.

Al-Sa'ed, Rashed, and Sana' Mubarak. "Sustainability Assessment of Onsite Sanitation Facilities in Ramallah-Albireh District with Emphasis on Technical, Socio-cultural and Financial Aspects." *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal* 17, no. 2(2006): 140-56.

Amnesty International. *Troubled Water - Palestinians Denied Fair Access to Water*. London: Amnesty International Publications, 2009. http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/info/MDE15/027/2009.

Antoniades, Andreas. "Epistemic Communities, Epistemes and the Construction of (World) Politics." *Global Society* 17, no. 1(2003): 21-38.

Austin, Beatrix. "Training for Conflict Transformation – An Overview of Approaches." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, 207-236. Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2011. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Australian Agency for International Development. *Gender Guidelines: Peace-Building*. 2006. www.ausaid.gov.au/Publications/Documents/gender\_peacebuilding.pdf

Berland, Allison. "The Water Component of the Peace Process Between The Israelis and the Palestinians." Master's Thesis, Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy at Tufts University, 2000.

 $http://www.transboundarywaters.orst.edu/publications/abst\_docs/related\_research/berlad/berland\_tc.html.$ 

Brauch, Hans Günter. "Environment and Security in the Middle East: Conceptualizing Environmental, Human, Water, Food, Health and Gender Security." In *Integrated Water Resources Management and Security in the Middle East*, edited by Clive Lipchin, Eric Pallant, Danielle Saranga, and Allyson Amster, 121-161. Dordrecht: Springer, 2007.

Brooks, David, and Julie Trottier. "Confronting Water in an Israeli–Palestinian Peace Agreement." *Journal of Hydrology* 382, no. 1(2010): 103-114.

Cairo, Heriberto. "The Duty of the Benevolent Master: From Sovereignty to Suzerainty and the Biopolitics of Intervention." *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political* 31, no. 3(2006): 285-311.

Caprioli, Mary, Valerie M. Hudson, Rose Mcdermott, Bonnie Ballif-Spanvill, Chad F. Emmett and S. Matthew Stearmer. "The Woman Stats Project Database: Advancing an Empirical Research Agenda." *Journal of Peace Research* 46, no. 6(2009): 839-851.

Carius, Alexander. "Environmental Cooperation as an Instrument of Crisis Prevention and Peacebuilding: Conditions for Success and Constraints." Paper submitted to the Berlin Conference on the Human Dimensions of Global Environmental Change, Berlin, November 2006.

Carius, Alexander, Geoffrey D. Dabelko, and Aaron T. Wolf. "Water, Conflict, and Cooperation." *Environmental Change and Security Project Report* 10(2004): 60-66.

Center for Transboundary Water Management at Arava Institute for Environmental Studies and Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. *Decentralized Wastewater Treatment and Reuse: A Transboundary Approach to Environmental, Social and Technical Issues of Wastewater Infrastructure Development – A Pilot Project in Al 'Oja Village, Palestine.* 2012.

Chaitin, Julia, Fida Obeidi, Sami Adwan and Dan Bar-On. "Palestinian and Israeli Cooperation in Environmental Work during the 'Peace Era'." *International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society* 17, no. 3(2004): 523-542.

Chan, Shun-hing. "Beyond War and Men: Reconceptualizing Peace in Relation to the Everyday and Women." *Signs* 36, no. 3(2011): 521-532.

Clements, Kevin. "Towards Conflict Transformation and a Just Peace." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2004. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Cohen, Michael M. "The Arava Institute for Environmental Studies: Nature Knows No Borders." *Palestine-Israel Journal of Politics, Economics & Culture* 12, no. 4 and 13, no. 1(2005 and 2006): 52-54.

Conca, Ken. "The Case for Environmental Peacemaking." In *Environmental Peacemaking*, edited by Ken Conca and Geoffrey D. Dabelko, 1-22. Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 2002.

Conca, Ken, Alexander Carius, and Geoffrey D. Dabelko. "Building Peace Through Environmental Cooperation." In *State of the World 2005: Redefining Global Security*, edited by Michael Renner, 144-157. Washington, D.C.: Worldwatch Institute, 2005.

Conca, Ken, and Geoffrey D. Dabelko. In *Environmental Peacemaking*, edited by Ken Conca and Geoffrey D. Dabelko, 220-233. Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center Press, 2002.

Conca, Ken, and Jennifer Wallace. "Environment and Peacebuilding in War-torn Societies: Lessons from the UN Environment Programme's Experience with Postconflict Assessment." *Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism and International Organizations* 15, no. 4(2009): 485-504.

Coskun, Bezen Balamir. "Cooperation over Water Resources as a Tool for Desecuritisation: the Israeli–Palestinian Environmental NGOs as Desecuritising Actor." *European Journal of Economic and Political Studies* 2(2009): 2-97.

Denzin, Norman K., and Yvonna S. Lincoln. *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications, Inc., 2005.

Dinar, Shlomi. "Water, Security, Conflict, and Cooperation." *SAIS Review* 22, no. 2(2002): 229-253.

Duffield, Mark R. *Global Governance and the New Wars: The Merging of Development and Security*. London: Zed Books Ltd., 2001.

Dukes, E. Franklin. "What We Know about Environmental Conflict Resolution: An Analysis Based on Research." *Conflict Resolution Quarterly* 22, nos. 1–2(2004): 191-220.

El-Bushra, Judy. *Gender in Peacebuilding: Taking Stock*. London: International Alert, 2012. http://www.internationalalert.org/sites/default/files/publications/201210GenderPeacebuilding-EN.pdf.

Elmusa, Sharif S. "The Jordan-Israel Water Agreement: A Model or an Exception?" *Journal of Palestine Studies* 24, no. 3(1995): 63-73.

Emerson, Robert M. *Contemporary Field Research: Perspectives and Formulations*. Long Grove: Waveland Press, 2001.

Feil, Moira, Diana Klein, and Meike Westerkamp. *Regional Cooperation on Environment, Economy and Natural Resource Management: How Can It Contribute To Peacebuilding?* Brussels: Initiative for Peacebuilding, 2009.

Fatta, D., Z. Salem, M. Mountadar, O. Assobhei, and M. Loizidou. "Urban Wastewater treatment and Reclamation for Agricultural Irrigation: the Situation in Morocco and Palestine." *Environmentalist* 24, no. 4(2004): 227-236.

Fischer, Michael MJ. "Changing Palestine–Israel Ecologies: Narratives of Water, Land, Conflict, and Political Economy, Then and Now, and Life to Come." *Cultural Politics* 2, no. 2(2006): 159-192.

Fong, Monica S., Anjana Bhushan, and Wendy Wakeman. *Toolkit on Gender in Water and Sanitation*. Washington, DC: World Bank, 1996. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTGENDER/Resources/toolkit.pdf.

Foucault, Michel. "Prison Talk." In *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings, 1972-1977*, edited by Colin Gordon, 40-46. New York: Pantheon, 1980.

Friedman, Thomas L. From Beirut to Jerusalem. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 1989.

Friends of the Earth Middle East. "Friends of the Earth Middle East Homepage." Accessed June 4, 2013. http://foeme.org.

Fröhlich, Christiane J. "Security and Discourse: the Israeli–Palestinian Water Conflict." *Conflict, Security & Development* 12, no. 2(2012): 123-148.

Froukh, Loay J. "Transboundary Groundwater Resources of the West Bank." *Water Resources Management* 17, no. 3(2003): 175-182.

Gafny, Sarig, Samer Talozi, Banan Al Sheikh, and Elizabeth Ya'ari. *Towards a Living Jordan River: An Environmental Flows Report on the Rehabilitation of the Lower Jordan River.* Amman, Bethlehem, and Tel Aviv: Friends of the Earth Middle East, 2010.

Galtung, Johan. "Cultural Violence." Journal of Peace Research 27, no. 3(1990): 291-305.

Galtung, Johan. "Violence, Peace, and Peace Research." *Journal of Peace Research* 6, no. 3(1969): 167-191.

Galtung, Johan, and Dietrich Fischer. *Conflict Transformation by Peaceful Means (The Transcend Method): Participants' Manual and Trainers' Manual*. New York: United Nations, 2009.

Gasteyer, Stephen, Jad Isaac, Jane Hillal, and Sean Walsh. "Water Grabbing in Colonial Perspective: Land and Water in Israel/Palestine." *Water Alternatives* 5, no. 2(2012): 450-468.

Gehrig, Jason, and Mark M. Rogers. *Water and Conflict: Incorporating Peacebuilding into Water Development*. Baltimore: Catholic Relief Services, 2009.

George, Alexander L., and Andrew Bennett. *Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences*. Cambridge: MIT Press, 2005.

Giordano, Meredith A. "Managing the Quality of International Rivers: Global Principles and Basin Practice." *Natural Resources Journal* 43(2003): 111-136.

Gizelis, Theodora-Ismene. "Gender Empowerment and United Nations Peacebuilding." *Journal of Peace Research* 46, no. 4(2009): 505-523.

Gray, Alice, and Jane Hilal. "Water and Security for Palestine." In *Integrated Water Resources Management and Security in the Middle East*, edited by Clive Lipchin, Eric Pallant, Danielle Saranga, and Allyson Amster, 99-117. Dordrecht: Springer, 2007.

Grewal, Baljit Singh. "Johan Galtung: Positive and Negative Peace." working paper, School of Social Science, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, 2003.

Haas, Peter M. "Do Regimes Matter? Epistemic Communities and Mediterranean Pollution Control." *International Organization* 43, no. 3(1989): 377-403.

Haas, Peter M. "Introduction: Epistemic Communities and International Policy Coordination." *International Organization* 46, no. 1(1992): 1-35.

Harari, Nicole and Jesse Roseman, *Environmental Peacebuilding Theory and Practice: A Case Study of the Good Water Neighbours Project and In Depth Analysis of the Wadi Fukin / Tzur Hadassah Communities*. Amman, Bethlehem, and Tel Aviv: Friends of the Earth Middle East, 2008.

Homer-Dixon, Thomas F. "Environmental Change and Human Security." *Behind the Headlines* 48, no. 3(1991): 1-17.

Homer-Dixon, Thomas F. "On the Threshold: Environmental Changes as Causes of Acute Conflict." *International Security* 16, no. 2(1991): 76-116.

Ibarrarán, María Eugenia, Matthias Ruth, Sanjana Ahmad, and Marisa London. "Climate Change and Natural Disasters: Macroeconomic Performance and Distributional Impacts." *Environment, Development and Sustainability* 11, no. 3(2009): 549-569.

Jad, Isaac. "The Essentials of Sustainable Water Resource Management in Israel and Palestine." *Arab Studies Quarterly* 22, no. 2(2002): 13-32.

Jägerskog, Anders. "Why States Co-Operate Over Shared Water: The Water Negotiations in the Jordan River Basin." PhD diss., Linköping University, 2007.

Jägerskog, Anders. "Water Regimes - A Way to Institutionalise Water Co-operation in Shared River Basins." In *From Conflict to Co-operation in International Water Resources Management: Challenges and Opportunities*, edited by Saskia Castelein, 210-211. Paper presented at the International Conference for the UNESCO-IHE Institute for Water Education, Delft, The Netherlands, November 2002.

Janmaat, Johannus, and Arjan Ruijs. "Sharing the Load? Floods, Droughts, and Managing International Rivers." *Environment and Development Economics* 12, no. 4(2007): 573-592.

Lautze, Jonathan, and Paul Kirshen. "Water Allocation, Climate Change, and Sustainable Water Use in Israel/Palestine: the Palestinian Position." *Water International* 34, no. 2(2009): 189-203.

Kirk, Gwyn. "Ecofeminism and Environmental Justice: Bridges Across Gender, Race, and Class." *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies* 18, no. 2(1997): 2-20.

Körppen, Daniela, Beatrix Schmelzle, and Oliver Wils, eds. "A Systemic Approach to Conflict Transformation: Exploring Strengths and Limitations." Berghof Handbook Dialogue Series No 6: A Systemic Approach to Conflict Transformation, Berlin, Berghof Foundation, 2008. www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Kramer, Annika. *Regional Water Cooperation and Peacebuilding in the Middle East*. Brussels: Initiative for Peacebuilding, 2008.

 $http://www.initiativeforpeacebuilding.eu/pdf/Regional_Water_Cooperation_and_Peacebuilding_in_the_Middle_East.pdf.$ 

Kriesberg, Louis. "The State of the Art in Conflict Transformation." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, 49-73. Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2011. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Lederach, John Paul. *Building Peace: Sustainable Reconciliation in Divided Societies.* Washington, D.C.: United States Institute of Peace Press, 1997.

Matthew, Richard, Mark Halle, and Jason Switzer, eds. *Conserving the Peace: Resources, Livelihoods and Security*. Winnipeg: International Institute for Sustainable Development, 2002.

Matthew, Richard, Oli Brown and David Jensen. From Conflict to Peacebuilding: The Role of Natural Resources and Environment. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme, 2009.

Mayers, James. *Stakeholder Power Analysis*. London: International Institute for Environment and Development, 2005.

McIlwaine, Stephen, and Mark Redwood. "The Use of Greywater for Irrigation of Home Gardens in the Middle East: Technical, Social and Policy Issues." *Waterlines* 29, no. 2(2010): 90-107.

McNeill, Laurie S., M. N. Almasri, and N. Mizyed. "A Sustainable Approach for Reusing Treated Wastewater in Agricultural Irrigation in the West Bank–Palestine." *Desalination* 248, no. 1(2009): 315-321.

Medzini, Arnon, and Aaron T. Wolf. "Towards a Middle East at Peace: Hidden Issues in Arab–Israeli Hydropolitics." *International Journal of Water Resources Development* 20, no. 2(2004): 193-204.

Meehan, Katharine, Kerri Jean Ormerod, and Sarah A. Moore. "Remaking Waste as Water: The Governance of Recycled Effluent for Potable Water Supply."*Water Alternatives* 6, no. 1(2013): 67-85.

Messerschmid, Clemens. "Till the Last Drop: The Palestinian Water Crisis in the West Bank, Hydrogeology and Hydropolitics of a Regional Conflict." In *Water Values and Righs*, edited by Imad Khatib, Karen Assaf, Dominique Claeys, Ayman Daoud, 869-882, Proceedings of the International Conference on Water Values and Rights, Ramallah, Palestine, 2005.

Mason, Michael. "Climate Change, Securitisation and the Israeli–Palestinian Conflict." *The Geographical Journal* 179, no. 4(2013): 298-308.

Miall, Hugh. "Conflict Transformation: A Multi-Dimensional Task." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2004. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Mirumachi, Naho, and John Anthony Allan. "Revisiting Transboundary Water Governance: Power, Conflict Cooperation and the Political Economy." Paper presented at the International Conference on Adaptive and Integrated Water Management, Basel, Switzerland, November 2007.

Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. "Enhancement of Food Security in Taybeh and Ramoun through Rural Development and Agricultural Extension." accessed November 3, 2013. http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/projects/57-enhancement-of-food-security-intaybeh-and-ramoun-through-rural-development-and-agricultural-extension#.

Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. "Mission." accessed July 20, 2013. http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/. Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. "Strengthen Financial Capacities of Bethlehem JSCSWM." accessed July 21, 2013. http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/projects/36-strengthen-financial-capacities-of-bethlehem-jscswm.

Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. "Support to Higher Joint Service Council Through the Strengthening of Management Capacity and Develop of Plastic Recycle System." accessed July 21, 2013. http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/projects/64-support-to-higher-jointservice-council-through-the-strengthening-of-management-capacity-and-develop-of-plasticrecycle-system-heb-sw-047-10.

Palestinian Wastewater Engineers Group. "Technical, Planning, and Advisory Team in the Water and Sanitation Sector." accessed July 21, 2013. http://www.palweg.org/index.php/en/projects/67-technichal-planning-and-advisory-team-in-

the-water-and-sanitation-sector.

Postel, Sandra L., and Aaron T. Wolf. "Dehydrating Conflict." Foreign Policy 126(2001): 60.

Ratner, Blake D., and Alberto Rivera. "Reasserting Community: The Social Challenge of Wastewater Management in Panajachel, Guatemala." *Human Organization* 63, no. 1(2004): 47-56.

Reimann, Cordula. "Assessing the State-of-the-Art in Conflict Transformation." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2004. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Renner, Michael, and Zoë Chafe. *Beyond Disasters: Creating Opportunities for Peace*. Washington, D.C.: Worldwatch Institute, 2007.

Ropers, Norbert. "From Resolution to Transformation: The Role of Dialogue Projects." In *Berghof Handbook for Conflict Transformation*, edited by Beatrix Austin, Martina Fischer, and Hans J. Giessmann, Berlin: Berghof Foundation, 2004. http://www.berghof-handbook.net/all.

Rouyer, Alwyn. "Basic Needs vs. Swimming Pools: Water Inequality and the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict." *Middle East Report* 33, no. 2(2003): 2-7.

Ruohomaki, Olli. "Water as a Source of Contention and Cooperation." *East Jerusalem: Middle East Publications* 16, no. 167(2010).

Ryan, Anthony M., Clive L. Spash, and Thomas G. Measham. "Socio-Economic and Psychological Predictors of Domestic Greywater and Rainwater Collection: Evidence from Australia." *Journal of Hydrology* 379, no. 1(2009): 164-171.

Sadoff, Claudia W., and David Grey. "Beyond the River: The Benefits of Cooperation on International Rivers." *Water Policy* 4 (2002): 389-403.

Sadoff, Claudia W., and David Grey. "Cooperation on International Rivers." *Water International* 30, no. 4 (2005): 420-427.

Saunders, Harold H. A Public Peace Process: Sustained Dialogue to Transform Racial and Ethnic Conflicts. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1999.

Schalimtzek, Adam, and Itay Fischhendler. "Dividing the Cost Burden of Environmental Services: The Israeli–Palestinian Wastewater Regime." *Environmental Politics* 18, no. 4(2009): 612-632.

Scheffran, Jürgen, Michael Brzoska, Hans Günter Brauch, Peter Michael Link and Janpeter Schilling, eds. *Climate Change, Human Security and Violent Conflict: Challenges for Societal Stability*. Dordrecht: Springer, 2012.

Schoenfeld, Stuart. "Environment and Human Security in the Eastern Mediterranean: Regional Environmentalism in the Reframing of Palestinian-Israeli-Jordanian Relations." In *Achieving Environmental Security: Ecosystem Services and Human Welfare*, edited by P.H. Liotta, William G. Kepner, Judith M. Lancaster, and David A. Mouat, 113-132. Amsterdam: IOS Press, 2010.

Schoenfeld, Stuart, Eric Abitbol, and Francesca de Châtel. "Retelling the Story of Water in the Middle East: Reflections on and about a Conversation at the Dead Sea." In *Integrated Water Resources Management and Security in the Middle East*, edited by Clive Lipchin, Eric Pallant, Danielle Saranga, and Allyson Amster, 1-29. Dordrecht: Springer, 2007.

Scully, Pamela. "Expanding the Concept of Gender-Based Violence in Peacebuilding and Development." *Journal of Peacebuilding & Development* 5, no. 3(2010): 21-33.

Selby, Jan. "Cooperation, Domination and Colonisation: The Israeli-Palestinian Joint Water Committee." *Water Alternatives* 6, no. 1(2013): 1-24.

Selby, Jan. "Dressing up Domination as 'Cooperation': The Case of Israeli-Palestinian Water Relations." *Review of International Studies* 29, no. 1(2003): 121-138.

Selby, Jan. "Joint Mismanagement: Reappraising the Oslo Water Regime." *Water Resources in the Middle East* 2(2007): 203-212.

Selby, Jan, and Clemens Hoffmann. "Water Scarcity, Conflict, and Migration: A Comparative Analysis and Reappraisal." *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy* 30, no. 6(2012): 997-1014.

Shaheen, Hafez Q. "Wastewater Reuse as Means to Optimize the use of Water Resources in the West Bank." *Water International* 28, no. 2(2003): 201-208.

Sherman, Martin. "The Hydro-Political Implications of the Oslo Agreements: An Israeli Perspective." In *Israel and a Palestinian State: Zero Sum Game?*, edited by Arieh Stav, 187-191. Shaarei Tikva: Zmora-Bitan Publishers and Ariel Center for Policy Research Publishers, 2001.

Slotin, Jenna, Vanessa Wyeth, and Paul Romita. *Power, Politics, and Change: How International Actors Assess Local Context.* New York: International Peace Institute, 2010.

Sosland, Jeffrey K. *Cooperating Rivals: The Riparian Politics of the Jordan River Basin.* Albany: SUNY Press, 2007.

Spring, Úrsula Oswald. "A HUGE Gender Security Approach: Towards Human, Gender, and Environmental Security." In *Facing Global Environmental Change: Environmental, Human, Energy, Food, Health and Water Security Concepts*, edited by Hans Günter Brauch, Úrsula Oswald Spring, John Grin, Czeslaw Mesjasz, Patricia Kameri-Mbote, Navnita Chadha Behera, Béchir Chourou, Heinz Krummenacher, 1157-1181. Berlin: Springer, 2009.

Taleb, Yana Abu, Michael Alexander, and Catherine Emeline Robillard. *Why Cooperate Over Water? Shared Waters of Palestine, Israel, and Jordan: Cross Border Crises and the Need for Transnational Solutions*. Amman, Bethlehem, and Tel Aviv: Friends of the Earth Middle East, 2010.

Tilly, Charles. Durable Inequality. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1998.

United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security. *Human Security in Theory and Practice: Application of the Human Security Concept and the United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security*. New York: United Nations, Human Security Unit, Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, 2009. http://hdr.undp.org/en/media/HS\_Handbook\_2009.pdf.

Uvin, Peter. "The Development/Peacebuilding Nexus: a Typology and History of Changing Paradigms." *Journal of Peacebuilding & Development* 1, no. 1(2002): 5-24.

Weiner, Jill Allison. "Israel, Palestine, and the Oslo Accords." *Fordham International Law Journal* 23, no. 1(1999): 230-274.

Weiss, Carol H. Evaluation. 2nd ed. Upper Saddle River: Prentice-Hall, Inc., 1998.

Wolf, Aaron T. "Conflict and Cooperation Along International Waterways." *Water Policy* 1, no. 2(1998): 251-265.

Wolf, Aaron T. "Middle East Water Conflicts and Directions for Conflict Resolution." discussion paper, International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, D.C., 1996. http://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/publications/vb31.pdf.

Wolf, Aaron T. Regional Water Cooperation as Confidence Building: Water Management as a Strategy for Peace. Berlin: Adelphi Research, 2004.

Wolf, Aaron T., Annika Kramer, Alexander Carius and Geoffrey D. Dabelko. "Managing Water Conflict and Cooperation." In *State of the World 2005: Redefining Global Security*, edited by Michael Renner, 80-95. Washington, D.C.: Worldwatch Institute, 2005.

Wolf, Aaron T., Annika Kramer, Alexander Carius, and Geoffrey D. Dabelko. *Navigating Peace: Water Can Be a Pathway to Peace, Not War.* Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, 2006.

Wolf, Aaron T., Shira B. Yoffe, and Mark Giordano. "International Waters: Identifying Basins at Risk." *Water Policy* 5, no. 1(2003): 29-60.

Zeitoun, Mark. "The Conflict vs. Cooperation Paradox: Fighting Over or Sharing of Palestinian-Israeli Groundwater?" *Water International* 32, no. 1(2007): 105-120.

Zeitoun, Mark. Power and Water in the Middle East: The Hidden Politics of the Palestinian-Israeli Water Conflict. London: IB Tauris, 2008.

Zeitoun, Mark and Jeroen Warner. "Hydro-Hegemony: A Framework for Analysis of Transboundary Water Conflicts." *Water Policy* 8, no. 5(2006): 435-460.

Zorn, M. Justin. "Climate for Conflict, Not Just Warming: Nobel Prize for Al Gore Recognizes Proactive Peacemaking." *Orlando Sentinel*. October 14, 2007. http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2007-10-14/news/NEWVOICES14\_1\_warming-water-tables-al-gore.